

LUND UNIVERSITY

Novel aspects of pathogen-mediated platelet activation and the role of platelets in inflammation

Palm, Frida

2022

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Palm, F. (2022). Novel aspects of pathogen-mediated platelet activation and the role of platelets in inflammation. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund]. Lund University, Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors: 1

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Novel aspects of pathogen-mediated platelet activation and the role of platelets in inflammation

FRIDA PALM DEPARTMENT OF CLINICAL SCIENCES, LUND | FACULTY OF MEDICINE | LUND UNIVERSITY



Novel aspects of pathogen-mediated platelet activation and the role of platelets in inflammation

Frida Palm



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

Doctoral dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) at the Faculty of Medicine at Lund University to be publicly defended on May 20th 2022 at 09.00 in Belfragesalen, Biomedical Center, Sölvegatan 17, Lund, Sweden

> *Faculty opponent* Alice Assinger Medical University of Vienna, Austria

Organization LUND UNIVERSITY		Document name Doctoral dissertation		
Medical Faculty, Department of Clinic Sciences, Lund	cal	Date of issue 2022-05-20		
Division of Infection Medicine		2022-05-20		
Author(s) Frida Palm	-	Sponsoring organization		
	41			
Title and subtitle Novel aspects of pathogen-mediated platelet activation and the role of platelets in inflammation				
Abstract Invasive bacterial infections and sepsis remain one of the major causes of death worldwide. Some of the hallmarks of sepsis are disturbed hemostasis and a dysregulated inflammatory state. The main regulators of hemostasis are platelets, and they also respond rapidly to inflammation and infection. <i>Streptococcus progenes</i> is a human-specific pathogen that can cause invasive disease and sepsis. One classical streptococcal vinlence factor is the cell wall anchored M protein, which contributes to various aspects of bacterial pathogenesis such as evasion of phagocytosis and complement. The M protein is capable of forming protein-protein interactions with numerous plasma proteins such as fibrinogen and the Fc domain of IgG. There are more than 200 different serotypes of M protein and some, for example the <i>mm1</i> serotype, are more associated with invasive streptococcal disease than other serotypes. The <i>Mm1</i> serotype, are more associated with invasive form the bacterial surface by host or bacterial proteases. The released M1 protein exhibits pro-inflammatory properties including activation of platelets, which is dependent on fibrinogen and specific IgG against the M1 protein. The overall aim of this thesis was to investigate the role of platelets during streptococcal sepsis further, mainly focusing on the interactions between the platelets and the streptococcal M protein. In <i>Paper I</i> we showed that C1q and downstream complement components were associated with the protein complexes that were formed by M1 protein in human plasma, and that the complement system was activated at the surface of M1 stimulation during streptococcal sepsis, which may contribute to the platelet consumption that occurs in sepsis. In <i>Paper I</i> the platelet-dependent pro-inflammatory effects of M protein serotypes associated with invasive infection (M1, M3, M5, M28, M49, and M89) were investigated. We showed that distinct M protein serotypes (M1, M3 and M5 protein) mediated fibrinogen- and IgG-dependent protein serotypes associated with				
Classification system and/or index terms (if any)				
Supplementary bibliographical information		Language		
ISSN and key title 1652-8220 Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation		Dissertation Series 2022-76	ISBN 978-91-8021-237-3	
Recipient's notes		r of pages 79	Price	
	Security	classification		
	,			

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

Juida Palm

Date 2022-04-12

Novel aspects of pathogen-mediated platelet activation and the role of platelets in inflammation

Frida Palm



Coverphoto by Frida Palm: C1q (green) associated with platelets (red) activated by the streptococcal M1 protein

Copyright pp 1-79 Frida Palm

Paper 1 © The Journal of Immunology

Paper 2 © Infection and Immunity

Paper 3 © by the Authors (Manuscript unpublished)

Paper 4 © by the Authors (Manuscript unpublished)

Lund University Medical Faculty Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund

ISBN 978-91-8021-237-3 ISSN 1652-8220 Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2022:76

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2022



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se

MADE IN SWEDEN 📲

Nothing in life is to be feared, it is only to be understood. Now is the time to understand more, so that we may fear less.

Marie Curie

Table of Contents

Abstract	8
Original papers	10
Additional papers not included in this thesis	10
Abbreviations	11
Popular science summary	14
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	15
Background	16
Introduction	16
The immune system	17
The first barrier	17
The innate immune system	17
The complement system	18
The adaptive immune system	19
Inflammation	21
Streptococcus pyogenes	23
The streptococcal M protein	27
Sepsis	31
Platelets	
Introducing platelets	
Platelet plug formation via fibrinogen bridges	
The platelet agonist thrombin in hemostasis and inflammation	
Regulating platelet plug formation	35
Platelet granules	35
Platelet cytoskeleton	
Platelet derived extracellular vesicles	37
Platelets and coagulation in the immune response	

The platelet FcyRIIA receptor	
Platelet interactions with immune cells and complement	40
Platelets in sepsis	41
General methodology	44
Mass spectrometry	44
Flow cytometry	
Fluorescence microscopy	48
Platelet function assays	
Acoustic trapping	50
Present investigations	51
Present investigations Introduction	
	51
Introduction	
Introduction Paper I	51 52 54
Introduction Paper I Paper II	51 52 54 56
Introduction Paper I Paper II Paper III.	
Introduction Paper I Paper II Paper III Paper IV	51 52 54 56 58 60

Abstract

Invasive bacterial infections and sepsis remain one of the major causes of death worldwide. Some of the hallmarks of sepsis are disturbed hemostasis and a dysregulated inflammatory state. The main regulators of hemostasis are platelets, and they also respond rapidly to inflammation and infection. *Streptococcus pyogenes* is a human-specific pathogen that can cause invasive disease and sepsis. One classical streptococcal virulence factor is the cell wall anchored M protein, which contributes to various aspects of bacterial pathogenesis such as evasion of phagocytosis and complement. The M protein is capable of forming protein-protein interactions with numerous plasma proteins such as fibrinogen and the Fc domain of IgG. There are more than 200 different serotypes of M protein and some, for example the *emm1* serotype, are more associated with invasive streptococcal disease than other serotypes. The M protein from the *emm1* serotype (M1 protein) can be released from the bacterial surface by host or bacterial proteases. The released M1 protein exhibits pro-inflammatory properties including activation of platelets, which is dependent on fibrinogen and specific IgG against the M1 protein.

The overall aim of this thesis was to investigate the role of platelets during streptococcal sepsis further, mainly focusing on the interactions between the platelets and the streptococcal M protein.

In *Paper I* we showed that C1q and downstream complement components were associated with the protein complexes that were formed by M1 protein in human plasma, and that the complement system was activated at the surface of M1 stimulated platelets, in an IgG- and fibrinogen-dependent manner. Furthermore, we demonstrated that platelet apoptosis and phagocytosis of platelets was increased after M1 stimulation. This revealed a novel mechanism of complement activation during streptococcal sepsis, which may contribute to the platelet consumption that occurs in sepsis.

In *Paper II* the platelet-dependent pro-inflammatory effects of M protein serotypes associated with invasive infection (M1, M3, M5, M28, M49, and M89) were investigated. We showed that distinct M protein serotypes (M1, M3 and M5 protein) mediated fibrinogen- and IgG-dependent platelet activation and aggregation, and complex formation with neutrophils and monocytes. Neutrophil and monocyte activation was also mediated by M1, M3, and M5 protein serotypes, while M28, M49, and M89 proteins failed to mediate activation of platelets or leukocytes. This disclosed novel aspects of the immunomodulatory role of fibrinogen acquisition and platelet activation during streptococcal infections.

In *Paper III* we isolated extracellular vesicles from platelets using acoustic trapping and characterized the protein cargo of vesicles from resting platelets, thrombin stimulated platelets, and M1 protein stimulated platelets. The vesicles from all three conditions contained platelet membrane proteins, granule proteins, coagulation

factors and immune mediators. The vesicles from M1 protein stimulated platelets also contained increased levels of complement components and IgG3, as well as the M1 protein. The vesicles were functionally competent and mediated platelet activation, neutrophil activation, and cytokine release in whole blood. This highlights novel aspects of pathogen-mediated platelet activation that may contribute to the coagulation and immune dysfunction during invasive streptococcal disease.

In *Paper IV* we established a model of *Streptococcus pyogenes* skin infection that progressed to an invasive infection over time. We observed bacterial dissemination to organs, a rapid increase in plasma cytokines, and finally organ damage. Platelets rapidly increased in the circulation post infection and platelet activation occurred, which was later followed by thrombocytopenia. Pathological changes in the organs were associated with intravascular clotting and accumulation of platelets in organs. This paper characterized platelet responses during infection and invasive disease.

Collectively, this thesis enlightens new aspects of the immunomodulatory roles of platelets during invasive infections and highlights novel mechanisms of streptococcal pathogenesis.

Original papers

Paper I

Complement Activation Occurs at the Surface of Platelets Activated by Streptococcal M1 Protein and This Results in Phagocytosis of Platelets

Frida Palm, Kristoffer Sjöholm, Johan Malmström and Oonagh Shannon

J Immunol 2019; 202:503-513

Paper II

Distinct Serotypes of Streptococcal M Proteins Mediate Fibrinogen-Dependent Platelet Activation and Proinflammatory Effects

Frida Palm, Sounak Chowdhury, Sara Wettemark, Johan Malmström, Lotta Happonen, Oonagh Shannon

Infection and Immunity 2022 Feb 17;90(2):e0046221

Paper III

Characterization of the protein cargo and pro-inflammatory effects of extracellular vesicles released from pathogen activated platelets.

Frida Palm*, Axel Broman*, Genevieve Marcoux, John W. Semple, Thomas L. Laurell, Johan Malmström, and Oonagh Shannon.

* These authors contributed equally

Manuscript

Paper IV

Platelet activation and accumulation in organs during invasive infection with *Streptococcus pyogenes*

Eleni Bratanis, **Frida Palm**, Christofer Karlsson, Alejandro Gomez Toledo, Gisela Hovold, Andrietta Grentzman, Johan Malmström, Oonagh Shannon

Manuscript

Additional papers not included in this thesis

Platelet activation and aggregation by the opportunistic pathogen Cutibacterium (Propionibacterium) acnes

Frida Petersson, Ola Kilsgård, Oonagh Shannon, Rolf Lood

PLoS One. 2018; 13(1): e0192051.

Abbreviations

- ADCC Antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity
- ADP Adenosine diphosphate
- APCs Antigen presenting cells
- C1-9 Complement components 1-9
- C4BP Complement 4b binding protein
- CARS Compensatory anti-inflammatory response
- CD40L CD40 ligand
- CTLs Cytotoxic T-lymphocytes
- DCs Dendritic cells
- DDA Data-dependent acquisition
- DIA Data-independent acquisition
- DIC Disseminated intravascular coagulation
- ECM Extracellular matrix
- E. coli Escherichia coli
- Efb Extracellular fibrinogen-binding protein
- ELISA Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
- $EndoS-Endo-\beta-N-acetyl glucosaminidase \ of \ streptococci$
- ESI Electrospray ionisation
- EVs Extracellular vesicles
- FcR Fc receptor
- FcγRIIA Fc gamma receptor IIa
- FDR False discovery rate
- Fg Fibrinogen
- FSC Forward scatter
- GP Glycoprotein
- HBP Heparin binding protein
- HCD Higher energy collisional disassociation
- HRP Horseradish peroxidase

- IdeS IgG-degrading enzyme of S. pyogenes
- Ig Immunoglobulin
- IL Interleukin
- IVIG -- Intravenous immunoglobulin
- ITAM Immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif
- K. pneumoniae Klebsiella pneumoniae
- LC Liquid chromatography
- LC-MS/ MS Liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry
- LTA Lipoteichoic acid
- LPS Lipopolysaccharide
- MAC Membrane attack complex
- MBL Mannose-binding lectins
- MCP Monocyte chemotactic protein
- MHC Major histocompatibility complex
- MMP-9 Matrix metalloproteinase-9
- MS Mass spectrometry
- NK Natural killer
- NETs Neutrophil extracellular traps
- NO Nitric oxide
- OSC Open canalicular system
- PAMPs Pathogen-associated molecular patterns
- PAR Protease-activated receptor
- PEVs Platelet derived extracellular vesicles
- PDGF Platelet-derived growth factor
- PF4 Platelet factor 4
- PMC Platelet-monocyte complex
- PNC Platelet-neutrophil complex
- PRP Platelet-rich plasma
- PRRs Pattern recognition receptors

PS – Phosphatidylserine

PSGL-1 - P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1

RNA - Ribonucleic acid

ROS - Reactive oxygen species

S. aureus – Staphylococcus aureus

ScpA – Group A streptococcal C5a peptidase

SIC - Streptococcal inhibitor of complement-mediated lysis

SIRS - Systemic inflammatory response

SLE - Systemiclupus erythematosus

SLO - Streptolysin O

SLS – Streptolysin S

SOFA - Sequential organ failure assessment

SpeB – Streptococcal pyrogenic exotoxin B

S. pneumoniae – Streptococcus pneumoniae

SpyCEP – S. pyogenes cell envelope protease

S. pyogenes – Streptococcus pyogenes

SRM - Selected reaction monitoring

SSC-Side scatter

SSL5 - Staphylococcal superantigen-like protein 5

STSS - Streptococcal toxic shock syndrome

TF - Tissue factor

TFPI – Tissue factor pathway inhibitor

TGF- β – Transforming growth factor beta

TLRs - Toll-like receptors

 $TNF\text{-}\alpha-Tumor\text{-}necrosis\ factor\text{-}\alpha$

TPO – Thrombopoietin

VEGF - Vascular endothelial growth factor

vWF-von Willebrand factor

Popular science summary

Infectious diseases are a major public health problem that cause about a third of all deaths (more than 15 million) in the world each year, especially in low-income countries. A common site of infection that can affect humans is the throat, which is most often caused by bacteria called group A streptococci. Group A streptococci also commonly cause skin infections, such as impetigo. Sore throat and impetigo are relatively mild infections that are easily cured with antibiotics, but group A streptococci can also spread and cause more serious infections, so-called invasive infections, that are more difficult to treat and in the worst case are life-threatening. A serious condition that can be caused by group A streptococci is sepsis.

Sepsis is defined as a life-threatening organ dysfunction caused by a dysregulated host response to infection. The body's own immune system overreacts to an infection. During invasive infections and sepsis, bacteria can enter the bloodstream and encounter several different cells, including cells in the immune system and platelets. Platelets play an important role in wound healing where they stick together to form a clot and stop bleeding. In sepsis, the function of the platelets in wound healing is disturbed, which can lead to both bleeding and blood clots throughout the body. It is believed to be caused by platelets overreacting to the infection and being consumed in blood clots, resulting in a shortage of platelets.

Previous research shows that platelets also play an important role in the immune system and can interact with several different bacteria and viruses. Platelets can also interact with other cells in the immune system and affect their defences against infections. In the research presented in this dissertation, we have further investigated the interaction between platelets and group A streptococci, in order to increase the understanding of the role of platelets in invasive infections. We have described new ways in which platelets interact with group A streptococci. We have also reported how platelets respond to the bacteria, and propose mechanisms that cause both blood clots and a shortage of platelets in invasive infections. Finally, we have shown new ways in which platelets interact with other cells in the immune system and modulate the immune cell defence against infection. We conclude that platelets play an important protective role in the immune system during invasive infections, but they can also contribute to the overreaction and subsequent organ damage that occurs in sepsis.

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Infektionssjukdomar är ett stort folkhälsoproblem som orsakar ungefär en tredjedel av alla dödsfall (mer än 15 miljoner) i världen varje år, framför allt i låginkomstländer. En vanlig infektion som kan drabba oss människor är halsfluss som oftast orsakas av bakterier som heter grupp A streptokocker. Grupp A streptokocker orsakar också svinkoppor, en vanlig hudinfektion bland barn. Halsfluss och svinkoppor är relativt milda infektioner som lätt botas med antibiotika men grupp A streptokocker kan också sprida sig och orsaka allvarligare sjukdomar, så kallade invasiva sjukdomar, som är svårare att behandla och som i värsta fall kan vara livshotande. Ett allvarligt tillstånd som kan orsakas av grupp A streptokocker är sepsis.

Sepsis definieras som livshotande organskada som orsakas av att kroppens egna immunförsvar överreagerar på en infektion. Vid invasiva infektioner och sepsis kan bakterier komma ut i blodet och stöta på flera olika celler, bland annat celler i immunförsvaret och blodplättar, som också kallas trombocyter. Trombocyter har en viktig roll i sårläkning där de klibbar ihop sig, eller koagulerar, för att bilda en propp och stoppa blödningen. Vid sepsis störs trombocyternas funktion i sårläkningen vilket kan leda till både blödningar och blodproppar i hela kroppen. Man tror att det beror på att trombocyterna överreagerar på infektionen och förbrukas i blodproppar, vilket leder till brist på trombocyter.

Tidigare forskning visar att trombocyter även har en viktig roll i immunförsvaret och kan interagera med flera olika bakterier och virus. Trombocyter kan också interagera med andra celler i immunförsvaret och påverka deras försvar mot infektioner. I forskningen som presenteras i den här avhandlingen har vi undersökt interaktionen mellan trombocyter och grupp A streptokocker vidare, för att öka förståelsen för trombocyternas roll vid invasiva infektioner. Vi har visat nya sätt som trombocyter interagerar med grupp A streptokocker. Vi har också beskrivit nya sätt som trombocyter reagerar på bakterierna, som kan orsaka både blodproppar och brist på trombocyter vid invasiva infektioner. Slutligen har vi demonstrerat nya sätt som trombocyter interagerar med andra celler i immunförsvaret och påverkar immuncellernas försvar mot infektion. Sammanfattningsvis har vi kommit fram till att trombocyter har en viktig skyddande roll i immunförsvaret vid invasiva infektioner, men att de också kan bidra till den överreaktion och följande organskada som uppstår vid sepsis.

Background

Introduction

A healthy human is colonized with the normal microbiota at a ratio of ten times more bacterial cells than human cells. These bacteria are found in the skin, mouth, nose, gastrointestinal tract, and vagina. The microbiota has a number of beneficial functions in the human body, such as digesting food, synthesising vitamins and preventing colonization by pathogens. Shifts in the microbiota can cause disease, such as bacterial vaginosis where inflammation is caused by changes in the vaginal microbiota (1, 2). Some members of the microbiota are so called opportunistic bacteria that can cause disease when the immune system is suppressed or when they enter a location where they normally don't reside. Other bacteria are known as pathogens that cause disease in humans. However, not all strains of a pathogen always cause disease, and not all individuals are always susceptible to a certain pathogen (3). The ability to cause disease is known as virulence, and factors contributing to the ability to cause disease are known as virulence factors. Thus, the loss of a virulence factor generally results in reduced ability to cause disease. However, the ability to cause disease is most often multifactorial, and the same factor can be a virulence factor for one bacterium but not for others, which makes virulence difficult to define and to study (3-5). Bacteria are classified into grampositive bacteria, with a cell wall composed of a thick layer of peptidoglycan containing lipoteichoic acid (LTA), and gram-negative bacteria, with cell wall composed of a thin layer of peptidoglycan and an outer membrane containing lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (6).

The immune system

The first barrier

The first line of defence against invading microbes in the human body is the skin and mucosa. The epithelial cells in the skin are tightly attached to each other via tight junctions and prevent bacteria from penetrating the skin. To breach the skin, bacteria must take advantage of wounds or evolve strategies to damage or invade epithelial cells (3). Furthermore, the skin is dry, acidic, and constantly shed, which makes it an unfavourable environment for most bacteria (6). Present in the skin are also antimicrobial substances and commensal microbiota that occupy potential colonization sites. The respiratory tract, gastrointestinal tract and urogenital tract are directly exposed to the environment outside the human body. To prevent colonization these epithelial areas are covered with a layer of mucus that trap and shed bacteria (3). Mucus also contains antimicrobial peptides, that are cationic and can depolarise or insert into bacterial membranes and kill bacteria. Antimicrobial peptides are also found in the skin, mouth, vagina, lungs, and gastrointestinal tract (7).

The innate immune system

The invading pathogens that manage to breach the skin and mucosa are challenged by the second line of defence, the innate immune system, that is always present and ready to respond. The innate immune system is composed of phagocytic cells, such as neutrophils, monocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells (DCs), that engulf the invading pathogen, natural killer (NK) cells, that kill infected host cells with intracellular pathogens, and proteins, such as cytokines and complement, that regulate and complement the activities of the innate immune cells. Dendritic cells migrate from the blood stream to tissue to be ready for invasion. The endothelial cells that line the blood vessels are not tightly attached to each other, which allows immune cells such as neutrophils to pass through the endothelium to reach an invading pathogen or injury. However, this may also allow the invading pathogens to pass through the endothelium and spread throughout the body. The invading pathogens express pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), such as flagella, bacterial DNA and ribonucleic acid (RNA), and the bacterial cell wall components LPS and LTA. The innate immune cells recognise these PAMPs via pattern recognition receptors (PRRs), such as toll-like receptors (TLRs). Engagement of PRRs mediates activation of the innate immune cells and results in neutrophil and monocyte migration to the site of invasion. The monocytes differentiate into macrophages, that are efficient phagocytes and that release pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as tumor-necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) and interleukin (IL)-1 β and chemokines that recruit additional innate immune cells to the site of invasion. The neutrophils increase their phagocytotic ability, release bactericidal nitric oxide (NO) and release neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) to trap and kill invading pathogens (3, 9, 10). The DCs links the innate and adaptive immune systems and migrate to the lymphoid tissues where they present antigen to and stimulate the cells of the adaptive immune system.

The complement system

Another link between the innate and adaptive immune systems is the complement system, an important part of the human defence against invading pathogens. The complement system is a set of proteins, complement components, that circulate the blood stream as inactive precursors and that are activated in a cascade by proteolytic cleavage, called complement activation. Complement activation can be initiated in three ways: By mannose-binding lectins (MBL) that recognise mannose residues at the bacterial surface, by the alternative pathway where direct complement activation is mediated by bacterial surface molecules, such as LPS and LTA, and by the classical pathway where complement activation is mediated by specific antibodies, produced in the adaptive immune response, that form immune complexes with microbial antigens. Thus, the complement system links the innate and the adaptive immune systems. Complement components C1-C9 are activated in a proteolytic cleavage cascade, resulting in generation of opsonins (C3b), that bind to the bacterial surface and enhance phagocytosis, chemotactic molecules (C3a and C5a), that recruit phagocytes to the site, and the membrane attack complex (MAC), that forms pores in the bacterial membrane and kills the bacteria through lysis. Host cells are protected from the complement system by complement regulatory proteins, such as factor H that results the alternative pathway and complement 4b binding protein (C4BP) that regulates the classical and lectin pathway (3, 11, 12).



Figure 1. Schematic figure of the classical pathway of the complement system

Activation of the classical pathway of the complement system is mediated by specific IgG that form immune complexes with microbial antigens. Complement components C1-C9 are activated in a proteolytic cleavage cascade, resulting in generation of opsonins (C3b), that bind to the bacterial surface and enhance phagocytosis, chemotactic molecules, or chemoattractants (C3a and C5a), that recruit phagocytes to the site, and the membrane attack complex (MAC), that forms pores in the bacterial membrane and kills the bacteria through lysis. Figure 1 was created with Biorender.

The adaptive immune system

Many pathogens have developed mechanisms to evade the innate immune system, such as resistance against phagocytosis and complement activation. To battle these pathogens the human body has evolved a second defence system, the adaptive immune system. The adaptive immune system battle invading pathogens in a targeted fashion, using specific antibodies and antigen presenting receptors against a particular microbe. The adaptive immune response is significantly slower than the innate immune response, and it takes more than a week for specific antibodies to develop. However, upon additional encounters with the same pathogen, the response in faster and only takes a day or two (3, 13). As described above antigen presenting cells (APCs), such as DCs and macrophages, recognise invading pathogens and present antigen via major histocompatibility complexes (MHC) to cells of the

adaptive immune system, T-lymphocytes. Antigen presentation via MHC-I stimulates cytotoxic T-lymphocytes (CTLs) and antigen presentation via MHC-II stimulates helper T-lymphocytes (14, 15). Cytotoxic T-lymphocytes recognise specific epitopes presented by cells infected with intracellular pathogens and kills them by releasing apoptotic and cytolytic molecules. Helper T-lymphocytes stimulate B-lymphocytes to become plasma B-lymphocytes and produce antibodies. A fraction of activated T-lymphocytes become memory T-lymphocytes that circulate in small numbers and respond more rapidly upon additional encounters with the same microbe. In a similar fashion a small fraction of activated Blymphocytes become memory B-cells (3, 16). Antibodies, or immunoglobulins (Ig), consist of a variable antigen binding Fab region that binds specifically to antigens foreign to the body, such as a microbial antigen, and a constant Fc region that binds to Fc receptors (FcRs) on immune cells and to complement component C1 to induce phagocytosis, antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) and complement activation (3). Humans have four classes of immunoglobulins: IgG, IgM, IgA, and IgE. IgG is the most prevalent immunoglobulin in blood, and there are four subclasses of IgG: IgG1-4. IgG1 is the most prevalent subclass, and IgG1 and IgG3 are most efficient at opsonization and complement activation. IgM is a multimer that is most prevalent in the early antibody response, whereas IgG is most prevalent in the later stages of the antibody response or upon additional encounters with the same antigen. IgM levels are detected during early infection but disappears thereafter, whereas IgG levels remain in circulation after infection. Due to the multimeric structure, IgM can interact with multiple Fc receptors or C1 components and is the most efficient mediator of complement activation. Furthermore, IgM and all IgG subclasses bind to released toxins and to antigens at the microbial surface and prevent them from interacting with host proteins, called toxin and microbe neutralisation. IgA is the most prevalent antibody in mucosa and is important for the defence of mucosal surfaces, such as the gastrointestinal tract, pulmonary tract, and urogenital tract. sIgA is a dimer that binds to the microbial surface to trap microbes in mucus and prevent them from reaching and binding to the mucosal surface. IgE is present at low levels in plasma and is important during parasite infections and allergic responses (3, 17, 18).



Figure 2. IgG-mediated immunity

IgG consists of a variable antigen binding Fab region that binds specifically to antigens foreign to the body, such as a microbial antigen, and a constant Fc region that binds to Fc receptors (FcRs) on immune cells and to complement component C1q to induce opsonization and phagocytosis, antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) and complement activation. Furthermore, IgG binds to released toxins and to antigens at the microbial surface and prevent them from interacting with host proteins, called toxin and microbe neutralisation. Figure 2 was created with Biorender.

Inflammation

Inflammation is an adaptive response triggered by a number of conditions, such as injury or infection. The inflammatory response during infection or injury is acute and transient, however inflammation can also become chronic during conditions such as cardiovascular disease. Inflammation is characterized by heat, pain, redness and swelling, due to increased vascular permeability and recruitment of immune cells to the site of injury, with the main purpose of providing protection against infection (19). Immune cells in the tissue, such as macrophages, recognise PAMPs with pattern-recognition receptors, as well as exposed tissue factor and collagen in the damaged tissue. When macrophages in the tissue recognise pathogens or injury, they become activated and start producing chemokines, cytokines, and eicosanoids, and thereby initiating the inflammatory response. Neutrophils are recruited to the site of injury, become activated and release inflammatory and antimicrobial factors, such as reactive oxygen species (ROS), from their granules. The ROS kills potential invaders, but also damages the host tissue, and when inflammation is dysregulated,

it can be detrimental to the host (20). Vascular leakage and increased permeability during inflammation results in plasma proteins and platelets gaining access to the extracellular matrix (ECM) and tissue. Factor XII is a plasma protein that becomes activated upon contact with collagen and other components of the ECM that are exposed during tissue damage. Factor XII initiates coagulation and activates the complement system. Factor XII also initiates fibrinolysis and clot dissolving (21). Platelets are also activated in response to the collagen, and release several inflammatory mediators, such as thromboxane and serotonin. Some inflammatory mediators circulate as inactive precursors, and their plasma concentration increase dramatically during the acute phase of inflammation, as a result of increased secretion by hepatocytes. One example of an acute-phase reactant and mediator of inflammation is fibrinogen (22). Fibrinogen interacts with leukocytes and facilitates leukocyte migration and activation. Furthermore, fibrinogen interacts with platelets and is an important co-factor for platelet activation (23-25). Several bacterial pathogens, including Streptococcus pyogenes (S. pyogenes), bind fibrinogen to subvert fibrinogen-mediated host antimicrobial function or facilitate invasion within the host (26-28). Other mediators are released or produced in response to inflammation inducers, such as TNF- α , IL-1, IL-6 from macrophages (19). After successful pathogen elimination, the inflammation transits into resolution and tissue-repair. This transit is mediated by a shift from pro-inflammatory cytokines and prostaglandins to anti-inflammatory lipoxins. Lipoxins inhibit the recruitment of neutrophils and promotes the recruitment of monocytes. The migrating monocytes will mature into macrophages in the tissue, that will remove dead cells and facilitate tissue repair (29).

Streptococcus pyogenes

Streptococcus pyogenes, or group A streptococcus, is a gram positive, beta hemolytic bacterium that can cause a wide range of infections exclusively in humans. S. pyogenes most commonly causes relatively mild throat and skin infections, such as pharyngitis and impetigo with around 600 and 111 million cases globally every year, respectively (30, 31). These mild S. pyogenes infections normally pass without further complications and are mostly easy to treat with antibiotics if necessary. However, S. pyogenes can also cause severe invasive infections, such as necrotizing fasciitis, streptococcal toxic shock syndrome (STSS), and sepsis, with around 663 000 cases globally each year, resulting in 163,000 deaths (30). Furthermore, S. pyogenes infection can trigger serious autoimmune conditions, such as acute glomerulonephritis, acute rheumatic fever, and rheumatic heart disease (30, 31). S. pyogenes infections markedly decreased in industrialised countries in the last century (32, 33) followed by a significant increase of severe S. pyogenes infections and outbreaks was observed during the last decades (34-37). S. *pyogenes* is sensitive to penicillin, but resistance to antibiotics such as macrolides, clindamycin, and lincosamides is emerging in some countries (38-40).

S. pyogenes infections are normally caused by spread from asymptomatic colonization in the nasopharyngeal mucosa and skin, or by transmission via close contact or respiratory droplets. There have also been several reports of outbreaks related to crowded conditions, contaminated food, and hospital-acquired disease (36, 41, 42). S. pyogenes outbreaks are also associated with emerging clones resulted by horizontal gene transfer (36, 43). The increase of severe S. pyogenes infections that was observed during the last decades is linked to the emergence of the M1T1 clone (35, 36, 43), that is the most common clinical isolate in the developed world. S. pyogenes can enter the blood stream directly, as a result of childbirth or injury, or transiently after colonization or infection of the throat or skin (36, 44). The presence of S. pyogenes in the bloodstream, bacteremia, is characterized by high fever and nausea caused by a strong inflammatory response. Streptococcal superantigens bind to T-cells, B-cells, monocytes and dendritic cells and mediate release of inflammatory markers such as IL-1 β , IL-2, IL-6, IFN- γ and TNF- α , resulting in a dysregulated inflammatory response, tissue damage, organ failure and systemic shock, associated with a high mortality rate (30, 45, 46).

S. pyogenes has developed multiple mechanisms to colonize, disseminate, and evade the host immune system. Several adhesins are expressed at the bacterial surface that bind multiple host factors, facilitating colonization of various tissue niches (47). The M protein is a major streptococcal virulence factor that covers the bacterial surface and promotes adherence and colonization. The M protein mediates adherence and internalisation into epithelial cells and keratinocytes, and interacts with components of the ECM, such as fibronectin (48-50). The secreted bacterial protease streptococcal pyrogenic exotoxin B (SpeB) cleaves autophagy components, promoting intracellular survival and proliferation (51).

S. pyogenes has adapted to the human host and developed multiple virulence factors to evade the human immune system, resulting in resistance against the complement system, phagocytosis, opsonization, antimicrobial peptides and neutrophil-mediated killing. The M protein binds several complement inhibitory proteins, such as C4BP and factor H, resulting in abolished complement activation and decreased bacterial killing (52, 53). Furthermore, M protein binds fibrinogen and plasminogen, which prevents deposition of complement C3 convertase and the opsonin C3b respectively, both resulting in decreased phagocytosis (54, 55). Streptococcal inhibitor of complement-mediated lysis (SIC) is a secreted virulence factor expressed by distinct serotypes, that binds and inhibits formation of the of the MAC complex (56). Most serotypes are protected by a hyaluronic acid capsule that blocks antibody opsonization, complement deposition and phagocytosis (57). The capsule is upregulated in human blood and protects against NETs, promotes survival and dissemination in mouse models and is associated with invasive disease in humans (58-60). To prevent antibody opsonization, complement activation and Fc-mediated phagocytosis, the streptococcal M proteins, as well as the M-related proteins and M-like proteins, bind the Fc region of IgA and IgG (61). Furthermore, the IgGdegrading enzyme of S. pyogenes (IdeS) cleaves the lower Fc region of IgG, resulting in decreased phagocytosis and neutrophil activation (62). The secreted endoglycosidase endo-B-N-acetylglucosaminidase of streptococci (EndoS) hydrolyses the glycan on the heavy chain of IgG, resulting in decreased Fc receptor binding, complement activation and phagocytosis (63, 64). The broad-spectrum cysteine protease streptococcal pyrogenic exotoxin B is secreted by most S. pyogenes serotypes and degrades IgGA, IgGD, IgGE, IgG and IgM (64).

S. pyogenes secretes toxins that directly kill immune cells, such as streptolysin O (SLO) and streptolysin S (SLS). SLO and SLS contribute to beta-hemolysis on blood agar plates and form large pores in host cell membranes, resulting in neutrophil, monocyte and epithelial cell apoptosis, and decreased phagocytosis (65, 66). Furthermore, SLS mediate platelet lysis and SLO induces platelet-neutrophil complex formation, contributing to tissue damage during infection (65, 67). SLO mutants show reduced virulence, and the expression of both SLO and SLS increases virulence, in mouse models of invasive *S. pyogenes* infection (65, 68, 69).

S. pyogenes expresses several factors that cleave or inhibit antimicrobial peptides. Both SpeB and SIC inhibit human cathelicidin LL-37, by cleavage and binding respectively (70, 71). Furthermore, *S. pyogenes* expresses proteases that cleave chemotactic substances. IL-8 and C5a are cleaved by *S. pyogenes* cell envelope protease (SpyCEP) and group A streptococcal C5a peptidase (ScpA), respectively, resulting in decreased neutrophil recruitment and phagocytosis (72, 73), and increased virulence in a mouse model of invasive *S. pyogenes* infection (74). Serotype M1T1 also secretes Sda1, a DNase that degrades NETs and decreases neutrophil-mediated killing (75).



Figure 3. S. pyogenes immune evasion

S. pyogenes has adapted to the human host and developed multiple virulence factors to evade the human immune system, resulting in resistance against the complement system, phagocytosis, opsonization, antimicrobial peptides and neutrophil-mediated killing. The M protein binds several complement inhibitory proteins, such as C4BP and factor H, resulting in abolished complement activation. Furthermore, M protein binds fibrinogen, which prevents complement deposition and phagocytosis. Streptococcal inhibitor of complement-mediated lysis (SIC) is a secreted virulence factor expressed by distinct serotypes, that binds and inhibits formation of the of the MAC complex. Most serotypes are protected by a hyaluronic acid capsule that blocks antibody opsonization, complement deposition and phagocytosis. To prevent antibody opsonization, complement activation and Fc-mediated phagocytosis, many streptococcal M proteins bind the Fc region of IgG. Furthermore, the IgG-degrading enzyme of S. pyogenes (IdeS) cleaves the lower Fc region of IgG, resulting in decreased phagocytosis and neutrophil activation. The secreted endoglycosidase endo-β-Nacetylglucosaminidase of streptococci (EndoS) hydrolyses the glycan on the heavy chain of IgG, resulting in decreased Fc receptor binding, complement activation and phagocytosis. The broad-spectrum cysteine protease streptococcal pyrogenic exotoxin B is secreted by most S. pyogenes serotypes and degrades IgG. S. pyogenes secretes toxins that directly kill immune cells, such as streptolysin O (SLO) and streptolysin S (SLS), that form large pores in host cell membranes, resulting in neutrophil, monocyte and epithelial cell apoptosis. S. pyogenes also expresses several factors that cleave or inhibit antimicrobial peptides, and both SpeB and SIC inhibit human cathelicidin LL-37. Serotype M1T1 also secretes Sda1, a DNase that degrades NETs and decreases neutrophil-mediated killing. Figure 3 was created with Biorender.

Invasive S. pyogenes infection is characterized by dysregulated inflammation and coagulation, and the bacterium has developed multiple factors that interact with the inflammation, coagulation and clotting responses. S. pyogenes binds plasminogen, either via the M protein or other surface proteins, and secretes streptokinase, a plasminogen activator. Plasminogen binding and activation results in fibrinolysis, reduced clotting and release of trapped bacteria from fibrin clots (76). Plasminogen binding is associated with invasive disease in humans, and depletion of plasminogen binding reduces mortality in mouse models of invasive S. pyogenes infection (26, 77). Plasminogen is cleaved into plasmin that mediates fibrinolysis, which facilitates bacterial dissemination and escape from fibrin-rich clots (26). Plasmin also mediates increased vessel permeability, recruitment of immune cells and dysregulated inflammation and tissue damage (78). S. pvogenes also bind kininogen, which mediates release of bradykinin, resulting in vasodilation and inflammation (79). M protein can be cleaved off from the bacterial surface by SpeB, and the released M protein forms complexes with fibrinogen. The M protein/ fibrinogen complexes mediate neutrophil activation, degranulation and release of neutrophil heparin binding protein (HBP), resulting in increased vessel permeability, recruitment of immune cells and dysregulated inflammation and tissue damage (80, 81). M protein/ fibrinogen complexes have been found in tissue biopsies from patients with necrotising fasciitis and septic shock (80). M protein binding to fibrinogen and kininogen also activates the coagulation system, resulting in fibrin clot formation, generation of the pro-inflammatory factor bradykinin, vasodilation, and vascular leakage (79). This has been observed both in patients and mouse models of invasive S. pvogenes infection (82, 83). Furthermore, M protein mediates tissue factor upregulation on monocytes and endothelial cells, via TLR2 interaction, increasing their procoagulant activity (84, 85). M protein also mediates platelet activation and aggregation, further promoting a dysregulated coagulation and clot formation (86). Platelet-bacteria interaction might facilitate bacterial dissemination to organs and protect bacteria from the host immune system (87).

Collectively, this shows that inflammation and coagulation are linked during invasive *S. pyogenes* infection and that dysregulation of these systems are hallmarks of *S. pyogenes* pathogenesis. Treatment of invasive *S. pyogenes* infection includes antibiotics and hemodynamic stabilisation (31). Anti-inflammatory compounds and intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG) are also potential treatments, but the effects of these drugs need to be evaluated further (88, 89). Since the human is the only natural *S. pyogenes* host, a vaccine against the bacteria has the potential to decrease transmission and ultimately eradicate the significant human pathogen. However, the development of a vaccine against *S. pyogenes* is hindered by serotype diversity, differences in geographical distribution of serotypes and the profound risk that antigens trigger autoimmune responses (90, 91). Future research is needed both to develop a *S. pyogenes* vaccine and to increase the understanding of, and develop treatments targeting, the inflammation and coagulation dysregulation during *S. pyogenes* infection.

The streptococcal M protein

The M protein is a major streptococcal virulence factor that covers the bacterial surface and is anchored to the peptidoglycan cell wall through an LPxTG motif (47). The protein is a dimer composed of two chains that form an α -helical coiled-coil structure (92). The protein consists of four repeat regions called A, B, C and D, a highly conserved C-terminal region, including the C and D regions, and a hypervariable N-terminal region, including the A region. Some S. pyogenes serotypes lack the semi-variable B region of the M protein (93). M protein is encoded by the emm gene and serotyping of S. pyogenes is based on emm amino acid sequence variations in the N-terminal region (47). Invasive disease is associated with distinct serotypes, and the *emm1* serotype in particular has dominated the epidemiology of invasive infections in the northern hemisphere since the 1990s (94). Furthermore, some serotypes are associated with throat infection, while others more commonly cause skin infections (95). The tissue preference is linked to structural patterns of the M proteins, and the bacteria can be divided into groups based on these patterns (90, 96). Pattern A-C serotypes consists of all four repeat regions and are associated with throat infection, pattern D serotypes lack the A repeat region and are associated with skin infection, and pattern E serotypes lack the B repeat region and are considered generalists causing both throat and skin infections to the same extent (97).



Figure 4. Schematic figure of the streptococcal M1 protein

The M1 protein consists of a four repeat regions called A, B, C and D, a highly conserved C-terminal region, including the C and D regions, a semivariable B region, and a hypervariable N-terminal region (HVR), including the A region. The N-terminal region contains the cell wall anchoring motif. The binding sites of complement 4b binding protein (C4BP), fibrinogen (Fg), the Fc region of IgG and albumin are shown in the figure. Figure 4 was created with Biorender.



Figure 5. Schematic figure of the streptococcal groups that are based on structural patterns of the M proteins Pattern A-C serotypes, including M1, M3 and M5 protein, consists of all four repeat regions and are associated with throat infection, pattern D serotypes lack the A repeat region and are associated with skin infection, and pattern E serotypes, including M28, M49 and M89, lack the B repeat region and are considered generalists causing both throat and skin infections to the same extent. Figure 5 was created with Biorender.

M protein contributes to diverse aspects of bacterial pathogenesis: adhesion, invasion, and evasion of phagocytosis and complement (81). M proteins use distinct binding domains to interact with several host plasma proteins, and the different M protein patterns result in different binding repertoires of the M proteins. The binding repertoire of the emm1 serotype M1 protein includes fibrinogen, albumin, the Fc domain of IgG, and the complement regulatory proteins factor H and C4BP, contributing to evasion of the complement system, opsonization and phagocytosis (98, 99). The M1 protein can be cleaved off from the bacterial surface by the streptococcal cysteine protease SpeB or by host-derived proteases (80, 100). The ability to shed a dominant surface protein during an infection may have important implications for the functional effects of this virulence factor during distinct phases of pathogenesis. The released M1 protein exhibits pro-inflammatory properties, including activation of neutrophils, monocytes, and T cells (80, 85, 101, 102). The released M1 protein can also mediate platelet activation, platelet/leukocyte complex formation, and modulation of the inflammatory response of neutrophils (86, 103). This might be a mechanism for the bacteria to cause distant thrombus formation and avoid bacterial entrapment in platelet aggregates. Platelet activation by M1 protein is dependent on binding of M1 protein together with plasma fibrinogen and specific anti-M1 IgG to the fibrinogen receptor and Fc receptor on the platelet surface (80). M protein-mediated platelet activation occurs in a donor-dependent fashion and correlates with the level of anti-M protein IgG present in the donor plasma (101). Some M proteins bind IgG1, IgG2 and IgG4, while others bind only IgG3, and only M22 and M28 have been shown to bind all four IgG subclasses (96). Mouse platelets lack the Fc gamma receptor IIa (FcyRIIA), which makes it difficult to study the Fcdependent platelet activation in mouse models. However, FcyRIIA transgenic mice have been generated and could be a valuable tool to study this mechanism in-vivo (104).

Several M protein serotypes interact with fibrinogen via the B repeat region, resulting in evasion of phagocytosis and diminished complement activation at the bacterial surface, regardless of the presence of anti-M protein IgG (105, 106). The binding of fibrinogen and albumin to the surface bound M protein might result in sterical hindrance of IgG opsonization (107). The interaction with fibrinogen and the pro-inflammatory effects are dependent on the characteristic nonideal sequence of the M protein, that gives rise to specific irregularities in the coiled-coil structure. Furthermore, the specific irregularities of the M protein are similar to the structure of myosin and tropomyosin, which gives rise to cross-reactive antibodies in autoimmune conditions following S. pyogenes infection (108). The released M1 protein also interacts with fibrinogen via the B repeat region, and the M1 protein/ fibrinogen complex mediates neutrophil activation, degranulation and HBP release (80). HBP levels are elevated in sepsis patients and HBP release results in endothelial cell activation with subsequent vascular leakage, vasodilation, and bleeding (80, 109). The vascular leakage caused by the M1 protein/ fibrinogen complex is increased in the presence of anti-M1 protein IgG (101). M1 protein interacts with TLR2 on monocytes and mediates release of IL-6, IL-1 β and TNF- α , as well as upregulation of tissue factor, resulting in a pro-inflammatory and procoagulant state (85). Collectively, the streptococcal M protein mediates a proinflammatory state and dysregulated coagulation and clot formation that contributes to the S. pyogenes pathogenesis during invasive infection.



Figure 6. The pro-inflammatory effects of the streptococcal M1 protein

The M1 protein mediates platelet activation, platelet-neutrophil and platelet-monocyte complex (PNC and PMC) formation, and platelet-dependent modulation of the inflammatory response of neutrophils. The M1 protein also mediates activaton of neutrophils, resulting in degranulation and HBP release. The HBP release results in endothelial cell activation with subsequent vascular leakage, vasodilation, and bleeding. Furthermore, the M1 protein mediates activation of monocytes, resulting in pro-inflammatory cytokine release and procoagulant tissue factor upregulation. The M1 protein also mediates activation of T-lymphocytes. Figure 6 was created with Biorender.



Figure 7. The mechanism of M1 protein-mediated platelet activation

Platelet activation by M1 protein is dependent on binding of M1 protein together with plasma fibrinogen (Fg) and specific anti-M1 IgG to the fibrinogen receptor GPIIb/IIIa and Fc receptor (FcR) FcγRIIA on the platelet surface.

Sepsis

Sepsis is a major global public health challenge, with 11 million sepsis-related deaths reported in 2017, representing approximately 20% of all deaths globally (110). In accordance with the Sepsis-3 definition, sepsis is a life-threatening organ dysfunction caused by a dysregulated host response to bacterial, viral, or fungal infection (111), assessed using the Sequential Organ Failure Assessment (SOFA) score. Hallmarks of sepsis include dysregulated hemostasis and dysregulated inflammation.

Inflammation is normally controlled by a fine-tuned balance of pro- and antiinflammatory signals, resulting in clearance of the invading pathogen, restored hemostasis, and tissue repair. The hallmarks of sepsis include disturbed hemostasis and a dysregulated systemic inflammatory state (112, 113). This is caused by an excessive systemic inflammatory response (SIRS), followed by the compensatory anti-inflammatory response (CARS). The initial pro-inflammatory cytokines in sepsis mediate prolonged and enhanced neutrophil and monocyte activation, which contributes to the dysregulated inflammation and to organ damage (111, 114). The activated neutrophils release ROS and NETs that contribute to organ damage. Furthermore, NETs are negatively charged and promote assembly and activation of the coagulation system, resulting in thrombin generation, platelet activation and thrombosis in response to inflammation and infection (115).

The excessive systemic inflammatory response mediates systemic activation of the endothelium, resulting in increased vascular permeability, vascular leakage, hypotension, and decreased oxygen supply to organs (116). The activated endothelium also mediates platelet adhesion, activation, and aggregation, resulting in thrombus formation throughout the body and disseminated intravascular coagulation (DIC) (117). DIC further contributes to the decreased oxygen supply to organs and organ damage (118). Tissue factor is upregulated on the activated endothelial cells and monocytes, further increasing the formation of stable fibrin-rich clots. The activated endothelium also releases vasoactive mediators, such as prostacyclin and nitric oxide, resulting in vasodilation and hypotension (119). The normal compensatory antidiuretic response, such as vasopressin release, is inhibited during sepsis. Furthermore, the systemic production of NO results in decreased response to vasoconstrictors in sepsis patients (119). Collectively, this results in hypotension, decreased oxygen supply to organs and organ damage. The

compensatory anti-inflammatory signals result in haltered clearance of the invading pathogen and increased susceptibility to secondary infections (120).

Sepsis diagnosis and treatment remains challenging due to the complexity and severity of the condition. Current sepsis treatment includes antibiotics, fluids, vasopressors, and ventilation. Drugs targeting inflammation, such as TNF- α blockers, have also been tested, however many are inefficient or fail clinical trials (121, 122). Therefore, there is a great need for further research focusing on both biomarkers and treatment of sepsis.



Figure 8. Schematic figure of the patophysiology of sepsis

Sepsis is a life-threatening organ dysfunction caused by a dysregulated host response to bacterial, viral, or fungal infection. The hallmarks of sepsis include disturbed hemostasis and a dysregulated systemic inflammatory state. This is caused by an excessive systemic inflammatory response (SIRS). The pro-inflammatory cytokines in sepsis mediate prolonged and enhanced neutrophil and monocyte activation, which contributes to the dysregulated inflammation and to organ damage. The activated neutrophils release ROS and NETs that contribute to organ damage. Furthermore, NETs are negatively charged and promote assembly and activation of the coagulation system, resulting in thrombin generation, platelet activation and thrombosis in response to inflammation and infection. SIRS mediates systemic activation of the endothelium, resulting in increased vascular permeability, vascular leakage, hypotension, and decreased oxygen supply to organs. The activated endothelium also mediates platelet adhesion, activation, and aggregation, resulting in thrombus formation throughout the body and disseminated intravascular coagulation (DIC). DIC further contributes to the decreased oxygen supply to organs and organ damage. The activated endothelium also rediates was created with Biorender.

Platelets

Introducing platelets

Platelets are small (1-2 µm) cell fragments that circulate the blood stream in great numbers of 150 000 to 400 000 per ul of blood (123, 124). Platelets are produced by fragmentation of megakaryocytes, mainly in the bone marrow, and have a short life span of around 10 days before they are cleared in the liver and spleen (125). The main function of platelets is to maintain hemostasis by preventing bleeding in case of vascular injury. Under normal circumstances the platelets circulate in a resting state and do not interact with the vessel wall or with each other. However, in case of vascular injury platelets rapidly adhere with surface receptors to subendothelial ECM proteins, such as collagen and von Willebrand factor (vWF), that are exposed when the vessel is injured (126, 127). First, tethering occurs, followed by rolling, platelet activation, and finally firm platelet adhesion (128). Platelet activation results in increased cytosolic Ca²⁺ levels, cytoskeletal rearrangements, and granule release, which in turn results in recruitment and activation of more platelets (129, 130). The increased Ca²⁺ levels also result in translocation of phosphatidylserine (PS) from the inside to the outside of the plasma membrane, called membrane flip (131).

Platelet receptor	Interacting ligand
FcγRIIA	IgG in immune complexes
GPIa/IIa	Collagen
GPlb	vWF
GPIb-IX-V complex	vWF, coagulation factors XI and XII
GPIIb/IIIa	vWF, fibrinogen
GPVI	Collagen
P2Y	ADP
PAR	Thrombin
P-selectin	PSGL-1, tissue factor

Table 1. Platelet receptors and their interacting ligands
Platelet plug formation via fibrinogen bridges

The activated platelets adhere firmly to the matrix and to each other, via crosslinking of the platelet surface glycoprotein (GP) IIb/IIIa, also called integrin aIIbβ3, by fibrinogen. This crosslinking results in platelet aggregation and the formation of a platelet plug, or thrombus, which prevents bleeding at the site of injury (132-134). On resting platelets, GPIIb/IIIa has an inactive conformation that does not interact with fibrinogen. Upon platelet activation signals from within the platelets, so called inside-out signalling, results in activation of GPIIb/IIIa to an active conformation that binds fibrinogen with high affinity. Fibrinogen binding results in clustering of GPIIb/IIIa and signals into the platelet, so called outside-in signalling, that results in platelet aggregation (135). This platelet-driven hemostasis is called primary hemostasis. Vessel injury also exposes tissue factor (TF), which initiates a cascade of protease activation of coagulation factors that will result in thrombin generation (128). This coagulation cascade in called secondary hemostasis. Tissue factor is also expressed on monocytes, and the expression of tissue factor is upregulated upon monocyte activation, increasing their procoagulant activity (136). The primary and secondary hemostasis promote each other. Activated platelets expose phosphatidylserine on their surface that provides a negatively charged binding surface for coagulation factors, and coagulation factors in turn mediate further platelet activation via generation of the platelet agonist thrombin.



Figure 9. Illustration of a platelet plug

Platelet activation results in activation of the platelet surface glycoprotein (GP) IIb/IIIa to an active conformation that binds fibrinogen with high affinity. The activated platelets adhere firmly to the matrix and to each other, via crosslinking of GPIIb/IIIa by fibrinogen (Fg). This crossbinding results in platelet aggregation and the formation of a platelet plug, or thrombus. Figure 9 was created with Biorender.

The platelet agonist thrombin in hemostasis and inflammation

Secondary hemostasis results in generation of thrombin. Thrombin cleaves fibrinogen into fibrin, that will stabilise the thrombus (128). Thrombin is also a potent platelet agonist that binds to protease-activated receptors (PARs) on the platelet surface. Thrombin activates the receptor by proteolytic cleavage. Thrombin activation of platelets results in platelet aggregation and degranulation. Upon platelet activation membrane phospholipids, such as phosphatidylserine, are exposed on the platelet surface. The anionic phospholipids provide a negatively charged surface that binds coagulation factors, resulting in increased thrombin generation and an increased platelet procoagulant activity. Thrombin also binds to PARs on endothelial cells and mediates release of von vWF and chemokines, and expression of the endothelial and platelet surface molecule P-selectin, resulting in recruitment of platelets and leukocytes to the endothelium. Thrombin also mediates endothelial vascular permeability endothelial-dependent increased and vasodilatation, facilitating inflammation (136). Thus, thrombin signalling via PARs is important in both hemostasis and inflammation.

Regulating platelet plug formation

To prevent uncontrolled platelet thrombus formation there are inhibitory signals, such as nitric oxide, prostacyclin, and prostaglandins, that are produced by platelets and endothelial cells upon activation and limit platelet activation, platelet aggregation and thrombus formation in a negative feedback loop (137, 138). Furthermore, plasminogen will be cleaved into plasmin, that in turn will cleave fibrin and help degrade the thrombus (128). The generation of thrombin is also regulated, as thrombin activates the protein C system, a system that regulates the coagulation cascade, to terminate its own production (136). The coagulation system is also regulated by the tissue factor pathway inhibitor (TFPI).

Platelet granules

Platelet activation results in platelet granules fusing with the membrane and release of the granule content. The granules contain an array of molecules that mediate recruitment and activation of additional platelets, resulting in amplification of the platelet activation process (134). Platelet granules are divided into three types: α granules, dense granules (δ -granules) and lysosomes (λ -granules). The α -granules are the most abundant of the granules, and contain various heterogenous cytokines,

such as IL-1, chemokines, such as platelet factor 4 (PF4) and monocyte chemotactic protein (MCP), and growth factors, such as and platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) and transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β). The α -granules also contain pro-inflammatory molecules, such as CD40 ligand (CD40L), prothrombotic molecules, such as vWF and fibrinogen (fg), and the platelet receptors GPIIb/IIIa, GPIb and CD62P, or P-selectin, that are upregulated at the platelet surface upon platelet activation and granule release (139-141). Dense granules contain fewer, more homogenous proteins, including Ca^{2+} ions, histamine, serotonin, and nucleotides, such as adenosine diphosphate (ADP), a major platelet agonist that generates a feedback amplification loop by activating additional platelets. Lysosomes contain various enzymes, such as serine peptidases, carbohydrases and phosphatases (142). Different granules of the same type contain different cargo, and can result in differential chemotactic, thrombotic, and coagulative effects depending on stimuli and cargo (140, 143, 144). For example, it has been shown that the proangiogenic protein vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and the antiangiogenic protein endostatin are separated in distinct subpopulations of alphagranules. The prothrombotic molecules vWF and fibrinogen have been shown to be stored both in separate and distinct alpha-granules (140, 143). Thus, selective cargo sorting can result in either enhanced or contradictory effect based on the granule subpopulation released.

Platelet cytoskeleton

The platelet cytoskeleton consists of cytoplasmic actin filament that mediate contractile events, and membrane skeleton that stabilises the plasma membrane. Platelet activation results in cytoskeletal reorganisation and a platelet shape change. Resting platelets have a discoid shape and a majority of the actin is monomeric. Platelet activation results in actin polymerisation and cytoskeletal reorganisation occurs, which results in a shape change of the platelets where pseudopodia extend from the platelet surface (145). The shape change increases the area of the external platelet surface, which facilitates interaction with matrix proteins and other platelets, and thereby increases platelet aggregation (128). The platelet membrane has unique invaginations that form an open canalicular system (OCS), that facilitates both transport of molecules into the platelets and platelet granule release (146).

Platelet derived extracellular vesicles

Extracellular vesicles (EVs) are small vesicular bodies (30 nm to 1 µm) that are derived from the cell membrane of various cells upon activation or injury (147). A majority (70-90%) of the circulating EVs in blood are derived from platelets (131). Platelet derived EVs (PEVs) contain a wide range of proteins and present plateletspecific surface antigens. PEVs are continuously produced and help to maintain hemostasis (148). The pro-coagulative nature of PEVs is due to exposed surface phosphatidylserine, a negatively charged molecule that is normally located on the intracellular surface of the platelet plasma membrane, that provides a binding surface for coagulation factors that generate thrombin through the coagulation cascade (149, 150). Furthermore, PEVs bind fibrinogen, collagen and von Willebrand factor and co-aggregate with platelets (148, 150). Some PEV components are selectively enriched compared to platelets. For example, PEVs contain high local concentrations of PS resulting in a PEV surface that is approximately 50- to 100-fold more procoagulant than the platelet surface. Many surface receptors, such as P-selectin, are also enriched on PEVs compared to platelets (131). PEVs function as signal mediators and contain several cytokines and chemokines, such as IL-1, thromboxane A2, surface receptors, such as CD40L, RNA, transcription factors and even mitochondria (151-153). Since PEVs readily circulate they can act as an efficient transfer system to target cells both locally and systemically. For example, PEVs can interact with the endothelium via P-selectin and interact with several immune cells via PF4, CD40L and IL-1B (131). The PEVs can be selectively sorted and packaged and the content of PEVs may differ depending upon the platelet agonist mediating platelet activation (154, 155). Agonists that stimulate a strong platelet activation, such as thrombin and collagen, result in PEVs that contain higher levels of proteins involved in platelet activation and degranulation than agonists that stimulate a weaker platelet activation, such as ADP (155). For example, the enrichment of P-selectin on PEVs is a result of agonistinduced platelet granule release upon activation, and PEVs generated in response to calcium ionophore A23187 contain α -granule proteins, such as platelet factor 4 and fibrinogen, whereas PEVs generated in response to dibucaine do not. Similarly, PEVs generated in response to thrombin and collagen express GPIIb/IIIa, whereas PEVs generated in response to the MAC complex do not (131). LPS stimulation of platelets via TLR4 generates PEVs that contain increased levels of IL-1β compared to PEVs from resting platelets. PEVs generated in response to LPS mediate increased VCAM-1 expression on endothelial cells, compared to PEVs from resting platelets (151). Staphylococcal superantigen-like protein 5 (SSL5) also activates platelets and generates PEVs that bind to monocytes, resulting in monocyte aggregation, migration and release of cytokines, such IL-1β, tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF α), and chemokines, such as MCP-1 and matrix metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-

9). The number of circulating PEVs is increased in several conditions, such as thrombosis, and levels corelate with disease progression (156).

Platelets and coagulation in the immune response

In addition to their classical role in maintaining hemostasis, platelets also have an emerging role in the immune response. This is a relatively new discovery, and most immunology books still don't mention platelets as immune cells. From an evolutionary perspective hemostasis and immune defence goes hand in hand, and invertebrates have cells called hematocytes that are responsible for both coagulation and immune response (157). Immunothrombosis is a new concept that links coagulation with the immune system, that refers to the role of thrombosis in the immune system. Immunothrombosis is characterized by the involvement of innate immune cells, mainly monocytes, neutrophils and DCs, in clot formation. The immune cells are recruited by pathogen-activated platelets and endothelial cells, and contribute to clot formation by mediating both further platelet activation and fibrin formation. Platelets interact with the recruited immune cells and mediate their immune functions. Monocyte activation mediated by pathogen or PAMPs results in increased expression of tissue factor at the monocyte surface, further promoting coagulation. Similarly, pathogen-mediated neutrophil activation results in NET formation. NETs trap and kill bacteria and provide negatively charged surfaces that bind coagulation factors. Fibrin clots also trap bacteria, and it has been shown that fibrin exhibits direct antimicrobial effects. Fibrin and fibrinogen also bind to and activate leukocytes. In conclusion, immunothrombosis contributes to recognition, entrapment and killing of pathogens. However, dysregulated immunothrombosis can result in pathological clot formation and vessel obstruction, such as myocardial infarction, stroke and DIC (158).

Platelet interactions with bacteria

Platelets express pattern recognition receptors and can interact both directly with many pathogens as well as with their released factors (159, 160). For example, platelets express TLR4, that binds LPS from gram negative bacteria such as *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*) (159). Platelets also express Fc receptors and can recognise immune complexes and opsonized bacteria (161, 162). For example Fc receptors bind IgG opsonized dengue virus, mediating thrombocytopenia during dengue virus infection (160). The platelet fibrinogen receptor GPIIb/IIIa also interacts with bacteria, with fibrinogen as a bridging molecule (163, 164). For example, extracellular fibrinogen-binding protein (Efb) from *Staphylococcus*

aureus (*S. aureus*) binds fibrinogen that can bind GPIIb/IIIa with fibrinogen as a bridging molecule (165). Platelet interaction with bacteria and bacterial compounds results in platelet activation, degranulation, and aggregation (160, 165). Activated platelets can directly kill pathogens by trapping them and with anti-microbial peptides (166-169). It has been shown that platelets trap *E. coli, S. aureus, and S. pyogenes* in fibrin-rich clots, and thereby prevents bacterial dissemination (166, 170). The platelet-bacteria aggregates are then removed by resident immune cells of the spleen and liver (171). The platelets can kill trapped bacteria by $Fc\gamma$ RIIA-dependent uptake of opsonized bacteria or with released antimicrobial peptides (169, 172). Platelets efficiently kill both *E. coli* and *S. aureus*, whereas *Streptococcus pneumoniae* (*S. pneumoniae*) and *S. pyogenes* are resistant to killing by platelet-derived antimicrobial peptides (170, 173).

The platelet FcyRIIA receptor

As mentioned above, many bacteria and bacterial compounds interact with platelets via $Fc\gamma RIIA$ on the platelet surface. The interaction with $Fc\gamma RIIA$ is dependent on specific IgG against bacterial antigens, and specific antibodies against bacterial proteins, such as clumping factor from S. aureus and M1 protein from Streptococcus pyogenes, have been identified in serum from healthy individuals (101, 174). FcyRIIA is unique to higher primates and is expressed on various human cells, such as monocytes, neutrophils, dendritic cells (DCs). FcyRIIA is the only Fc receptor expressed on human platelets and the structure of $Fc\gamma RIIA$ is unique, as it is a singlechain receptor, compared to the multichain structure of other FcRs. Binding of IgG containing immune complexes to FcyRIIA results in receptor activation via phosphorylation of an immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif (ITAM) in the cytoplasm, which is characteristic for immune receptors. Activation of FcyRIIA results in increases in cytosolic calcium levels, platelet activation, aggregation, and granule release. However, platelet aggregation and granule release in response to bacteria is dependent on GPIIb/IIIa co-stimulation. Additionally, FcyRIIA can amplify platelet activation in response to GPIIb/IIIa activation in an IgGindependent fashion. FcyRIIA can also be activated in response to autoimmune related immune complexes, for example in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), resulting in platelet activation that contributes to the autoimmune pathogenesis. Interestingly, FcyRIIA expression vary between individuals and can also vary within individuals during disease (161, 174).

Platelet interactions with immune cells and complement

Upon activation, platelets release factors that can mediate recruitment and activation of leukocytes. For example, platelet factor 4 can recruit monocytes and mediate monocyte differentiation. Similarly, platelet CXCL7 can recruit neutrophils and levels of CXCL7 has been shown to be elevated in mice suffering from SIRS and associated with platelet-mediated NET formation (175). Furthermore, platelets can interact directly with leukocytes, via P-selectin on the platelet surface binding to Pselectin glycoprotein ligand-1 (PSGL-1) on the leukocyte surface (175), and mediate formation of platelet-neutrophil and platelet-monocyte complex (PNC and PMC) formation. Platelet-leukocyte interaction result in increased phagocytosis, ROS production and NET formation, as well as increased surface expression of TF, pro-inflammatory cytokine synthesis and formation of EVs of monocytes (175, 176). Platelets also mediate cytokine and chemokine release by endothelial cells. For example, platelet CD40L mediates release of the chemokines IL-8 and MCP-1 by endothelial cells, resulting in recruitment of leukocytes, PNC, and PMC formation (175). Activated platelets also release complement components C8 and C9, which will mediate formation of the MAC complex. The MAC complex induces TF and wVF release from the endothelium, which initiates coagulation system activation and further platelet activation (177, 178).

Furthermore, factors released upon platelet degranulation recruit DCs, promote dendritic cell maturation and increase their antigen presentation capacity (179). For example, platelet CD40L mediates release of IL-6 from DCs and enhances DC maturation, resulting in increased killing of bacteria, such as *S. aureus* (175). Platelets also interact directly with DCs via P-selectin on the platelet surface binding to PSGL-1 on the DC surface, enhancing DC maturation, or via platelet CD40L binding to CD40 on the DC surface, increasing the phagocytosis by DCs. Furthermore, platelets express the antigen presentation molecule MHC class I on their surface, suggesting that platelets are involved directly in antigen presentation (180). Platelets interact with T-lymphocytes and B- lymphocytes, both directly and via released factors, and modulate their function (181). For example, platelet factor 4 can recruit T-lymphocytes and promote their activation of the classical complement system (177). Collectively, this highlights the important role of platelets as bridging cells between coagulation and the immune system.



Figure 10. Platelet immunomodulation

Platelets interact with neutrophils and monocytes, directly in platelet-neutrophil and platelet-monocyte complexes (PNC and PMC) or via released factors, and mediate neutrophil extracellular trap (NET) formation, phagocytosis and reactive oxygen species (ROS) production, as well as differentiation, upregulation of tissue factor (TF), pro-inflammatory cytokine release and formation of extracellular vesicles (EVs) of monocytes. Platelets also interact with endothelial cells, directly or via released factors, and mediate cytokine and chemokine release by endothelial cells. Furthermore, platelets release complement components C8 and C9, which will mediate formation of the MAC complex, and activated platelets bind the complement component C1q and mediate activation of the classical complement system. Platelets also interact with dentritic cells (DCs), directly or via released factors, and increased phagocytosis by DCs. Platelets express the antigen presentation capacity, increased killing of bacteria, and increased phagocytosis by DCs. Platelets express the antigen presentation and promote the activation of T-lymphocytes and B-lymphocytes. Figure 10 was created with Biorender.

Platelets in sepsis

Platelets link coagulation, inflammation, and infection and play an important role in the dysregulated inflammation and coagulation observed during sepsis. Platelet activation is increased in sepsis, and platelet aggregation to ex-vivo stimulation is decreased in sepsis patients, suggesting that platelet activation has occurred in-vivo (182, 183). Endothelial activation and vascular leakage are hallmarks of sepsis, resulting in platelet activation and aggregation. Platelet adhesion to the activated endothelium results in fibrin clot formation, contributing to DIC and subsequent organ damage (184). Upon activation, platelets release CD40L, which mediates further endothelial activation, creating a viscous circle (185). Platelets also release serotonin, that can cause vasodilation and hypotension, resulting in systemic shock (186). Furthermore, consumption of platelets and coagulation factors eventually results in an increased risk of bleeding in sepsis patients (118).

Platelet activation also mediates leukocyte recruitment, platelet-leukocyte complex formation, and modulation of neutrophil and monocyte function (175). In sepsis models, platelet-leukocyte complexes accumulate in organs, such as the lungs and the liver, and PNC formation corelate with organ damage (187, 188). Neutrophils in PNCs are activated in a platelet-dependent manner, and exhibit NET formation, which results in trapping and killing of bacteria, such as *E. coli* and *S. aureus* (189, 190). However, NETs also mediate further platelet activation, thrombosis, and organ damage (191, 192). The M1 protein from *S. pyogenes* also mediates PNC formation in a fibrinogen-dependent manner, however the neutrophils in these complexes are functionally impaired and don't produce NETs (103). PMC formation is also observed in sepsis, and the monocytes in PMCs show increased endothelial adhesion, increased procoagulant activity, such as TF production, and increased cytokine release (193, 194). Platelet activation mediates production of both pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines, which contributes to the cytokine storm and dysregulated inflammation observed during sepsis (195).

Thrombocytopenia is common (20-60%) in sepsis patients and correlates with a poor prognosis. Thrombocytopenia is included as a measure of hematological failure in the SOFA score (196, 197). The causes of thrombocytopenia in sepsis are not fully understood, but decreased platelet production and increased platelet activation and consumption may contribute to thrombocytopenia (198). Activated platelets are rapidly cleared, and therefore platelet activation decreases the life span of platelets (125). Some virus and bacteria can cause platelet apoptosis, which could also contribute to thrombocytopenia (199, 200). It has also been suggested that apoptosis generally follows platelet activation, and that platelet apoptosis results in increased phagocytosis of platelets by monocytes, activation of the coagulation system, thrombin production and thrombosis (201-203). Anti-platelet antibodies, such as anti-PF4, are detected in sepsis patients and could result in immune complex-mediated platelet destruction and clearance (204, 205). In sepsis, platelets are accumulated in organs and in fibrin-rich thrombi, which could also contribute to the thrombocytopenia observed in sepsis patients. Recent studies show an increase in immature platelets in patients with severe sepsis, which indicates that platelet production is not decreased but rather increased during sepsis (206). Furthermore, the number of megakaryocytes in the bone marrow remains normal, and the level of thrombopoietin (TPO) increases, during sepsis (207, 208). Collectively, these findings suggest that the thrombocytopenia observed in sepsis patients is due to increased platelet activation, consumption, and clearance, and not due to decreased platelet production.

Platelets play a protective role in host defence during sepsis but can also contribute to organ damage and dysfunction. Sepsis models with platelet depletion prior to infection has been carried out to investigate the role of platelets is sepsis further. In a sepsis model with *Klebsiella pneumoniae* (*K. pneumoniae*) infection platelet depletion resulted in increased bacterial load and increased host mortality, suggesting a protective platelet role in sepsis (209). However, in a model with *S. pyogenes* infection platelet depletion resulted in decreased bacterial survival and dissemination, suggesting a detrimental effect of platelets in sepsis (87). Platelet activation and platelet-leukocyte complex formation is higher in patients with sepsis caused by gram-positive bacteria, as compared to gram-negative bacteria, suggesting that the platelet response differs depending on pathogen (210).

PEVs exhibit immunomodulatory effects by transfer of bioactive cargo to target cells, such as leukocytes and endothelial cells, resulting in target cell activation (211). PEVs recruit leukocytes to the site of infection and mediate leukocyte interaction and cytokine release (212, 213). PEVs also contribute to innate and adaptive immunity through antigen presentation via MHC-1 molecules, and have access to the lymphoid organs and to the bone marrow (214). The number of circulating EVs increase in a number of pathological states, such as inflammation and sepsis (156, 215). Interestingly, PEVs seem to have a protective role in sepsis, and low levels of circulating PEVs corelate with both thrombocytopenia and sepsis mortality (216, 217).

General methodology

Mass spectrometry

Mass spectrometry (MS) is used to measure the proteome, i.e., the whole protein set expressed from the genome, or at least parts of the proteome at a given time. The proteome can be measured as intact proteins, called top-down proteomics, or as peptides from digested proteins, called bottom-up proteomics (218, 219). The mass spectrometer performs better at measuring smaller units, and therefore bottom-up proteomics is more common. Trypsin is the enzyme most used to digest proteins into peptides in mass spectrometry samples, as it generates peptides that are easily ionised and that are of ideal length for the mass spectrometer that measures the mass-to-charge (m/z) ratio of ions (220). Before entering the mass spectrometer the peptides are separated, most commonly based on their hydrophobic properties with a liquid chromatography (LC) system directly connected to the mass spectrometer (221). Importantly, the mass spectrometer struggles to analyse large numbers of peptides at the same time, and the separation allows the peptides to enter the mass spectrometer at different times. Furthermore, this retention time will facilitate the identification of the peptide. The separated peptides are ionised, most commonly using electrospray ionisation (ESI), a technique that resulted in the Nobel prize in chemistry in 2002 (222). Finally, the ionised peptides enter the mass spectrometer and data acquisition commences.

Data-dependent acquisition (DDA), or Shotgun MS, aims at identifying as many peptides as possible, and m/z ratios and peptide abundances are measured in MS1 scans. Each peak in the MS1 spectrum could result from multiple combinations of amino acids in the peptide sequence, giving rise to the low sensitivity and poor reproducibility of DDA. To improve this, the ionised peptides with the highest intensities, called precursor-ions, are fragmented by collision with an inert gas, most commonly using higher energy collisional disassociation (HCD) (223). The fragmented ions are measured again, generating a MS2 spectrum that is used for peptide identification and abundance. In data-independent acquisition (DIA), repeated cycles of MS1 scans result in the generation of multiple MS2 spectra that are used to identify a complete set of fragment ions. Thus, DIA aims at constructing a near-to-complete digital archive of the whole ionisable peptide content of the sample and circumvents the limitations of DDA where only the most intense ions are measured. The peptide annotation in DDA is done by comparison to a sequenced

genome, theoretically digested by the enzyme used to predict the peptides present in the sample (224). Since the peptide annotation is based on comparing experimental spectra with predicted spectra, the false discovery rate (FDR) is determined to validate the data statistically. A decoy dataset is generated by reversing the sequence of all predicted peptides. The experimental spectra is searched against the decoy dataset, and an FDR score is calculated based on the random matches with the decoy dataset (225). The peptide annotation in DIA is based on spectral libraries that are commonly generated through several DDA analyses preceding the DIA analysis (226). Therefore, only peptides identified in the DDA analyses and in the concomitant spectral libraries will be included in the final DIA analysis, and multiple DDA analyses are performed to increase the included peptides. In DIA the peptide quantification is based on fragmented ions at MS2 level, which results in a more precise quantification than in DDA, where the quantification is based on ionised peptides at MS1 level. Even more precise peptide quantification, better reproducibility and consistency can be achieved with targeted mass spectrometry, such as selected reaction monitoring (SRM). In SRM, preselected peptides are measured and compared to reference peptides within the sample, so called label-free quantification, or to reference peptides that are added to the sample. The reference peptides that are added to the sample are often labelled with heavy isotope tags, and the intensities of heavy and light peptides are measured and compared to quantify the target peptides (227).

Finally, the peptides are mapped to proteins and some peptides, so called nonproteotypic peptides, could belong to multiple proteins. The non-proteotypic peptides are normally excluded from the analysis, since it is difficult to determine which protein they originate from, and whether one or several of those proteins are present in the sample. Thus, the non-proteotypic peptides were excluded from the analysis in this thesis and only peptides that could be uniquely mapped to a single protein, so called proteotypic peptides, were included in the analysis.

Bottom-up proteomics and liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) was used throughout this thesis. DDA followed by SRM was performed to identify and quantify the plasma proteins that interacted with the M1 protein in paper I. DDA followed by DIA was performed to identify and quantify the proteins that interacted with the M proteins in plasma in paper II, were associated with platelet-derived extracellular vesicles in paper III and were present in the organs in paper IV.



Figure 11. Bottom-up proteomics with liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/ MS) work flow

Proteins in the sample are digested into peptides by an enzyme, most commonlyTrypsin. Before entering the mass spectrometer the peptides are separated, most commonly based on their hydrophobic properties with a liquid chromatography (LC) system directly connected to the mass spectrometer. The separated peptides are ionised, most commonly using electrospray ionisation (ESI), and finally the ionised peptides enter the mass spectrometer. The mass spectrometer measures the mass-to-charge (m/z) ratio of ions and the resulting MS spectra is compared to a sequenced genome in data-dependent acquisition (DDA) or to pre-aquired spectral libraries in data-independent acquisition (DIA), for peptide identification, quantification and mapping to proteins. Figure 11 was created with Biorender.

The extracellular vesicles that were characterized in paper III were isolated from platelets in platelet-rich plasma (PRP). Preliminary work aimed to characterize the proteins that were associated with extracellular vesicles derived from isolated washed platelets to avoid a high background signal from plasma. Therefore, a protocol for washing platelets and stimulating washed platelets with M1 protein was successfully established. Platelet activation was detected as CD62P upregulation using flow cytometry. Furthermore, vesicles derived from M1 stimulated washed platelets were isolated and investigated using DDA and DIA mass spectrometry. However, M1 protein-mediated platelet activation is dependent on fibrinogen and IgG, which was therefore added to the washed platelets prior to M1 protein stimulation. Unfortunately, the intense fibrinogen and IgG signals masked the signals from the less abundant proteins that were associated with the platelet derived extracellular vesicles. As a result of recent development of a novel method for isolating vesicles from more complex samples such as plasma, extracellular vesicles were isolated from platelets in platelet-rich plasma instead.

Flow cytometry

In this thesis flow cytometry was used to study platelet activation, immunomodulation, and extracellular vesicle production. Flow cytometry is used to analyse single cells in a solution that flow past lasers. As the cells flow past the lasers they give rise to visible light scatters in the forward direction, so called forward scatter (FSC), and at 90°, so called side scatter (SSC), that indicates the relative cell size and granularity, respectively. Furthermore, the cells can be labelled with fluorescent antibodies, dyes or proteins that emit fluorescent light. Dichroic filters steer fluorescent light at specific wavelengths to detectors (228). When combining different fluorescence labels, the fluorescent light at different labels is detected by different filters, or channels. There is often some spillover, or spectral overlap, between the different channels, especially between channels that detect light at wavelengths close to each other. The spectral overlap can be adjusted for by correcting the fluorescent signal in one channel based on the signal in the other channels. This is called compensation and can either be done manually or, more common nowadays, automatically (229). The fluorescent signals are converted into electronic signals that can be computationally analysed. The different cell populations can be analysed based on their light scatter and fluorescent signals. The cell populations are first gated based on their light scatter and/ or fluorescent signals, and other parameters are investigated within the gates. Additionally, the cell count of the different populations can be determined, either without an internal reference in an instrument calibrated to generate volumetric counts or by comparing to fluorescent beads of a known concentration that are added to the sample (228).

In this thesis the platelets were gated based on their forward scatter and side scatter, and/ or fluorescent signals of platelet-specific markers. Other parameters, such as the platelet count, were investigated within this gate. Fluorescent antibodies were used to detect receptors and proteins at the platelet surface, to investigate platelet activation, complement activation, platelet apoptosis and phagocytosis of platelets. Furthermore, neutrophils and monocytes were gated and counted based on their forward scatter and side scatter, and/ or fluorescent signals of neutrophil or monocyte-specific markers, respectively. Fluorescent antibodies were used to investigate neutrophil and monocyte activation as well as platelet positive neutrophils and monocytes in platelet-neutrophil and platelet-monocyte complexes. Flow cytometers with enhanced sensitivity can detect smaller particles, such as extracellular vesicles (228). In this thesis, a flow cytometer with enhanced sensitivity was used to detect and count platelet-derived extracellular vesicles based on their forward scatter and fluorescent signal of a platelet marker.

Fluorescence microscopy

In fluorescence microscopy, particles, cells, or tissue on microscopy slides are detected with fluorescent antibodies, proteins, or dyes. The fluorochromes are excited with excitation light and emits fluorescence light at a specific wavelength, emission light. Since the emitted fluorescent light is weaker than the excitation light, filters are used to block the bright excitation light. The absorbed excitation light is redirected to the specimen by a dichroic mirror and blocked by excitation filters. Emission filters direct emitted fluorescent light at specific wavelengths to the detector. The most common type of fluorescence microscopy is wide-field microscopy, where the whole specimen is illuminated simultaneously to excite the fluorophores in the specimen to emit fluorescent light. In wide-field microscopy the emitted fluorescent light is detected by a camera. Wide-field microscopy is ideal for thin specimens, such as single cell layers. The image quality is decreased if the specimen contains fluorescent signals above or below the plane of focus, which can be the case in thick specimens such as tissue (230). To include the fluorescent signals outside the plane of focus, and thereby improve image quality, deconvolution can be utilised. In deconvolution, a series of images along the z-axis are recorded and analysed together computationally. Thus, the information outside the plane of focus is included and incorporated in the final image (231).

In this thesis wide-field fluorescence microscopy was used to visualize complement activation at the platelet surface and phagocytosis of platelets by monocytes in paper I. Fluorescent antibodies were used to detect platelet-specific markers and complement components at the platelet surface. A fluorescent DNA-binding dye was used to detect the monocyte nuclei and multiple fluorescent antibodies, added before and after phagocytosis, were used to detect intracellular and extracellular platelets, respectively. Furthermore, the technique was used to detect, visualize, and count platelets in organs in paper IV. In paper IV, platelets were detected in tissue, which resulted in fluorescent signal outside the plane of focus and decreased image quality. To include the fluorescent signals outside the plane of focus, and thereby improve image quality, deconvolution was applied in paper IV.

Platelet function assays

In addition to using flow cytometry to measure platelet activation, platelet aggregation and granule release was investigated to determine the platelet function. Platelet aggregation was investigated ex vivo, using an aggregometer. This technique used was light transmission aggregometry that monitors platelet aggregation of platelets in platelet-rich plasma upon exposure to platelet agonists, such as collagen, thrombin, ADP, and/ or thromboxane A2, while stirring (232). The

aggregometer measures the light transmission, and platelet aggregation in platelet rich plasma results in increased light transmission through the solution. The platelet aggregation can be quantified as percentage platelet aggregation and lag time, which is the time to initiated platelet aggregation. Platelet aggregation is used both experimentally and clinically, since it can be used to detect platelet abnormalities in certain medical conditions, such as autoimmune disorders, genetic bleeding disorders, medication side effects, leukemia and kidney disease (232). In paper II of this thesis, platelet aggregation in platelet-rich plasma was monitored in response to collagen and streptococcal M proteins, using platelet aggregometry.

In the same paper, platelet granule release in response to streptococcal M proteins was measured using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). ELISA generally refers to any assay that uses an enzyme-linked conjugate and enzyme substrate to generate a color change to show antigen-antibody interaction. The method is used to detect and measure antibodies that are specific for a selected antigen or an antigen that is specific for a selected antibody. The selected antigen or antibody is absorbed to a surface, such as to the bottom of wells in a microplate, and is used to capture the corresponding antigen or antibody in a sample. The captured antigen or antibody can either be directly enzyme tagged or detected with a secondary enzyme tagged antibody. Washing is applied to remove unbound antigens or antibodies. Finally, a substrate is added to generate a colour change, indicating antigen-antibody interaction. The results are read on a spectrophotometer at a specific wavelength that corresponds to the conjugate characteristics (233). In paper I and paper II of this thesis, an in-house ELISA was performed to measure levels of M protein-specific IgG in plasma. A microplate was coated with the M proteins and was incubated with plasma from healthy donors. The M protein-specific IgG in the plasma was then detected by a secondary antibody that was tagged with the enzyme horseradish peroxidase (HRP). Subsequent incubation with a substrate resulted in a colour change, and the absorbance was measured with a spectrophotometer. In paper I, the plates were precoated with fibrinogen to inhibit IgG binding with the Fc region to the M1 protein. In paper II, the IgG cleaving enzyme IdeS was used to cleave IgG, and only the Fab bound fragments were detecting using an anti-Fab antibody. Commercial ELISA kits were used in paper II to measure platelet granule release and in paper IV to measure levels of organ damage markers. The commercial ELISA kits were sandwich ELISAs, which refers to that a capture antibody was used to capture the antigens in our samples and an enzyme-tagged detection antibody was used to detect the antigens. Thus, the antigen is placed between two antibodies and resembles a sandwich. The sandwich approach has been shown to increase the sensitivity, compared to other ELISAs (233). ELISA is also used clinically, and can be used to measure anti-platelet antibodies, platelet surface markers and platelet granule release. This information can aid diagnosis of several medical conditions (233).

Acoustic trapping

In this thesis, acoustic trapping was used to isolate platelet-derived extracellular vesicles. The most common way to isolate extracellular vesicles is by ultracentrifugation, where large sample volumes are centrifuged at high speed for an extended amount of time. Thus, ultracentrifugation requires large sample volumes, is time consuming and exposes the samples to large forces that may result in vesicle damage, fusion and aggregation, and inclusion of unspecific protein complexes (234). Furthermore, ultracentrifugation in inconsistent between studies due to the use of different protocols and rotors (235, 236). Acoustic trapping is a novel, gentle and contact-free method for isolating vesicles, that enables small sample volumes. Acoustic trapping captures particles by generating a standing ultrasonic wave inside a microfluidic channel. The ultrasonic wave creates a pressure node that captures particles down to a few microns and enables isolation, washing, enrichment, and buffer exchange (237, 238). To capture submicron particles, the trap can be pre-loaded with seed particles. Nanoparticles, such as EVs, can then also be captured in the trap through scattered sound interactions with the seed particles. (239, 240). In paper IV we use acoustic trapping to isolate plateletderived extracellular vesicles. We used a novel acoustic trapping devise with a large microfluidic channel and multinode resonance, instead of the standard single-node resonance, generating nine trapping pressure nodes instead of one. This novel acoustic trapping device allows higher flow rates and an increased number of trapped particles, resulting in a gentle, rapid method for isolating extracellular vesicles with high capacity (241).

Present investigations

Introduction

Streptococcus pyogenes is a strictly human pathogen that normally causes local throat and skin infections, such as pharyngitis and impetigo, but also invasive lifethreatening conditions, such as necrotizing fasciitis, STSS and sepsis. S. pyogenes has developed multiple strategies to colonize, spread and evade the immune system. One important streptococcal virulence factor is the cell wall anchored M protein, which contributes to bacterial adhesion, invasion, and evasion of phagocytosis and complement. The M protein interacts with several plasma proteins, such as fibrinogen, the Fc domain of IgG and complement regulatory proteins. Serotyping of S. pyogenes is based on variations in the emm gene that encodes for the M protein. There are more than 200 different M protein serotypes and around ten serotypes are commonly associated with invasive infections, with the *emm1* serotype being the most prevalent. The M protein from the emml serotype, the M1 protein, can be released from the bacterial surface by host and bacterial proteases. The released M1 protein exhibits pro-inflammatory properties and mediates activation of neutrophils and monocytes. M1 protein can also activate platelets and stimulate plateletleukocyte complex formation. M1 protein-mediated platelet activation is dependent on fibrinogen and specific anti-M1 protein IgG engaging with both the Fc and the fibrinogen receptors on the platelet surface. Platelets are the main regulators of hemostasis but also play an important role in the immune system. Some of the hallmarks of sepsis are disturbed thrombosis and a dysregulated inflammatory state, and platelets contribute to the pathophysiology of sepsis. The overall aim of this thesis was to investigate the role of platelets during streptococcal sepsis further, mainly focusing on the interactions between the platelets and the streptococcal M protein, using both in vitro and in vivo systems.

Paper I

Background

The complement system is a key mediator in the immune response to infection. The system can be activated by three pathways, classical, alternative and lectin, which recognise microbial motifs directly or via immune complex formation. Complement activation generates opsonins (C3b) that facilitate phagocytosis, pro-inflammatory and chemotactic mediators (C5a, C3a), and, finally, a terminal membrane attack complex that can mediate bacterial cell lysis. Human cells are protected from complement activation by acquisition of complement regulatory proteins; factor H regulates the alternative pathway and C4BP regulates the classical and lectin pathway. Many bacteria have developed strategies to evade the complement system. The cell wall bound streptococcal M protein can bind C4BP and factor H and prevent complement activation at the bacterial surface. Furthermore, M protein can bind fibrinogen and the Fc domain of IgG and thereby evade phagocytosis. The M protein from the *emm1* serotype (M1 protein) can be cleaved off from the bacterial surface by host or bacterial proteases. The released M1 protein binds fibrinogen and the Fab region of specific anti-M1 IgG. This protein complex exhibits proinflammatory properties, including activation of platelets. Platelet activation by M1 protein is dependent on binding of M1 protein together with plasma fibrinogen and specific anti-M1 IgG to the fibrinogen receptor GPIIb/IIIa and the Fc receptor FcyRIIa on the platelet surface. The consequences of this immune-mediated platelet activation in sepsis are not fully understood, in particular with regard to interactions with the complement system.

Aim

The aim of this study was to characterize the protein complex formed on addition of M1 protein to human plasma and investigate the consequences of pathogenmediated activation for platelet function.

Results

Quantitative mass spectrometry showed that IgG3, C1q and complement components were associated with protein complexes that are formed by M1 protein in human plasma. C1q was also associated with the surface of M1 stimulated platelets, and the complement system was activated, as demonstrated using flow cytometry. The C1q association and the complement activation were observed exclusively in individuals with specific IgG against the M1 protein. Furthermore, using flow cytometry and microscopy, we showed that platelet apoptosis and phagocytosis of platelets was increased after M1 stimulation.

Conclusion

In conclusion, we demonstrated that C1q was acquired to the surface of M1activated platelets in an IgG immune complex-mediated fashion. This resulted in activation of the complement system and increased apoptosis and phagocytosis of the platelets in susceptible individuals. This reveals novel consequences for pathogen-mediated platelet activation, and a novel mechanism of complement activation during streptococcal sepsis, which may contribute to platelet consumption in sepsis.



Figure 12. Conclusion of paper I

M1 protein mediates platelet activation that is dependent on binding of M1 protein together with plasma fibrinogen (Fg) and specific anti-M1 IgG to the fibrinogen receptor GPIIb/IIIa and Fc receptor (FcR) FcγRIIA on the platelet surface. C1q is acquired to the surface of M1-activated platelets in an IgG immune complex-mediated fashion. This results in activation of the complement system and increased apoptosis and phagocytosis of the platelets in susceptible individuals.

Paper II

Background

M protein is encoded by the *emm* gene, and serotyping of S. pyogenes is based on emm amino acid sequence variations in the N-terminal region. Another classification system, which is based on A, B, C, and D domain arrangements of the M proteins, can be used to assign serotypes into groups; patterns A-C, D, and E, which are associated with relatively distinct tissue tropisms of skin and throat or as generalists that can occupy both niches. The emm pattern A-C contains all A, B, C, and D domains, the emm pattern D contains B, C, and D domains, and the emm pattern E only contains the C and D domains. There are more than 200 different *emm* serotypes; however, fewer than 10 serotypes are predominant in clinically significant invasive streptococcal infections. The four serotypes emml, emm28, emm3, and emm89 account for about 50 to 70% of all invasive S. pyogenes infections in Europe and North America, with the emml serotype being the most prevalent. These four serotypes represent the distinct patterns of A-C or E, respectively, implying that distinct tissue tropisms may not be associated with invasive infection. We have previously shown that platelet activation and neutrophil activation mediated by M1 protein is dependent on fibrinogen and specific anti-M1 protein IgG engaging with both the Fc and the fibrinogen receptors on the platelet surface. Fibrinogen is a predominant blood protein that responds to infection as an acute-phase reactant and mediator of inflammation, interacting with leukocytes and platelets. Some bacterial pathogens, including S. pyogenes, bind fibrinogen to subvert fibrinogen-mediated host antimicrobial function or facilitate invasion within the host. The ability of the M proteins to acquire plasma fibrinogen is not conserved for all serotypes and may be associated with distinct serotype patterns.

Aim

In this study, we assess the importance of fibrinogen acquisition for platelet and platelet-dependent neutrophil and monocyte activation mediated by invasive serotypes of M protein from two serotype patterns, the M1, M3, and M5 proteins from pattern A-C and the M28, M49, and M89 proteins from pattern E.

Results

The platelet-dependent pro-inflammatory effects of serotypes of M protein associated with invasive infection (M1, M3, M5, M28, M49, and M89) were investigated using a combination of multiparameter flow cytometry, ELISA, aggregometry, and quantitative mass spectrometry. Distinct M protein serotypes (M1, M3 and M5 protein) bound fibrinogen in plasma and mediated fibrinogen- and IgG-dependent platelet activation and aggregation, release of granule proteins, upregulation of CD62P to the platelet surface, and complex formation with neutrophils and monocytes. Neutrophil and monocyte activation was also mediated

by M1, M3, and M5 protein serotypes, while M28, M49, and M89 proteins failed to mediate activation of platelets or leukocytes.

Conclusion

Only M protein released from distinct streptococcal serotypes (M1, M3, and M5 proteins) bound plasma fibrinogen and Fab-bound IgG to mediate rapid platelet activation, complex formation with neutrophils and monocytes, and activation of these classical drivers of inflammation. Platelet-neutrophil and platelet-monocyte complex formation was dependent on platelet activation since the platelet-specific agonist thrombin resulted in platelet-neutrophil and platelet-monocyte complex formation, in the absence of leukocyte activation. The M28, M49, and M89 proteins failed to engage fibrinogen or mediate platelet-dependent inflammation. Our findings show that platelets activated by bacterial proteins can release immunomodulatory granule proteins and engage with and activate leukocytes, further highlighting the pro-inflammatory role of platelets during infection and sepsis. This reveals novel aspects of the immunomodulatory role of fibrinogen acquisition and platelet activation during streptococcal infections.



Figure 13. Conclusion of paper II

Only M protein released from distinct streptococcal serotypes (M1, M3, and M5 proteins) bind plasma fibrinogen and Fab-bound IgG to mediate rapid platelet activation, complex formation with neutrophils and monocytes, and activation of these classical drivers of inflammation (green square). The M28, M49, and M89 proteins failed to engage fibrinogen or mediate platelet-dependent inflammation (red square). Figure 13 was created with Biorender.

Paper III

Background

Extracellular vesicles are derived from the membrane of cells upon activation or injury. Most of the circulating EVs in blood are derived from platelets. Just like their parent cell, platelet derived EVs are attributed an important role in hemostasis and exhibit immunomodulatory effects by transfer of bioactive cargo to target cells, such as leukocytes and endothelial cells, resulting in target cell activation. PEVs recruit leukocytes to the site of infection and mediate leukocyte interaction and cytokine release. Platelet activation and release of circulating platelet derived EVs increase in several pathological inflammatory diseases, such as sepsis. The content of PEVs may differ depending upon the platelet agonist mediating platelet activation. The physiological platelet agonist thrombin interacts with PARs at the platelet surface to mediate platelet activation and release of PEVs. We have previously shown that the streptococcal M1 protein mediates platelet activation that is dependent on fibrinogen and specific anti-M1 protein IgG engaging with both the Fc and the fibrinogen receptors on the platelet surface. However, the release of PEVs in response to the M1 protein and the pro-inflammatory effects of EVs derived from M1 protein stimulated platelets have not been previously investigated. Acoustic trapping is a novel method for extracellular vesicle isolation, washing and enrichment. Acoustic trapping captures particles by generating an ultrasonic wave inside a microfluidic channel, and offers a gentle and rapid method for isolating extracellular vesicles with high capacity.

Aim

Investigating EVs from activated platelets in comparison to EVs from resting platelets, by characterizing the differences in the protein cargo and the proinflammatory effects of EVs isolated from resting platelets, physiologically stimulated (thrombin) platelets, and immune complex (M1 protein) stimulated platelets.

Results

We isolated extracellular vesicles from activated platelets using acoustic trapping and applied quantitative mass spectrometry-based proteomics to characterize the differences in the protein cargo of extracellular vesicles isolated from resting platelets, physiologically stimulated (thrombin) platelets, and immune complex (M1 protein) stimulated platelets. We determined that M1 protein-mediated platelet activation and generated platelet derived extracellular vesicles, into which the M1 protein itself was incorporated. The isolated extracellular vesicles derived from all three conditions contained a protein cargo of platelet membrane proteins, granule proteins and cytoskeletal proteins, in combination with coagulation factors and immune mediators. We showed an increased level of blood coagulation proteins after stimulation with thrombin and M1 protein, as compared with resting platelets. The extracellular vesicles isolated from M1 protein stimulated platelets also contained increased levels of complement proteins and IgG3. The isolated extracellular vesicles derived from all three conditions exhibited pro-inflammatory effects on addition to blood, including platelet-neutrophil complex formation, neutrophil activation, and cytokine release.

Conclusion

Collectively, our findings showed that blood coagulation proteins, complement components and IgG were enriched in EVs derived from platelets after stimulation with thrombin or M1 protein, as compared with resting platelets. A specific increase in complement components and IgG3 after immune complex-mediated platelet activation with M1 protein was observed. M1 protein was transported with platelet derived EVs after stimulation and pro-inflammatory responses were generated in blood cells exposed to isolated EVs. Pro-coagulant EVs may contribute to the coagulopathy in sepsis, which may be an important attribute for M1 protein during invasive streptococcal disease. This paper reveals novel immunomodulatory aspects of pathogen-mediated platelet activation that may contribute to the coagulation and immune dysfunction during invasive streptococcal infection, and that may be used to identify biomarkers of pathogen-mediated platelet activation.



Figure 14. Conclusion of paper III

Isolated extracellular vesicles (EVs) derived from resting platelets, platelets activated with thrombin and platelets activated with M1 protein all contain a protein cargo of platelet receptors, granule proteins and cytoskeletal proteins, in combination with coagulation factors and immune mediators. We showed an increased level of blood coagulation proteins after stimulation with thrombin and M1 protein, as compared with resting platelets. The extracellular vesicles isolated from M1 protein stimulated platelets also contained increased levels of complement proteins and IgG3. The isolated extracellular vesicles derived from all three conditions exhibited pro-inflammatory effects on addition to blood, including platelet-neutrophil complex formation, neutrophil activation, and cytokine release. Figure 14 was created with Biorender.

Paper IV

Background

In accordance with the Sepsis-3 definition, sepsis is a life-threatening organ dysfunction caused by a dysregulated host response to bacterial, viral, or fungal infection, assessed using the SOFA. Hallmarks of sepsis include dysregulated hemostasis and dysregulated inflammation. Platelets play important roles in coagulation, inflammation, and infection, and are involved in the sepsis pathology. The crosstalk between platelets and the endothelium is dysregulated in sepsis, resulting in platelet activation and fibrin clot formation that contributes to DIC and subsequent organ damage. Activated platelets also release factors that mediate inflammation, vasodilation, and hypotension, resulting in systemic shock.

Consumption of platelets and coagulation factors eventually results in an increased risk of bleeding in sepsis patients. Thrombocytopenia is associated with sepsis mortality and included as a measure of haematological failure in the SOFA score. However, the causality of thrombocytopenia and the role of platelets in host defence or organ damage in sepsis is not fully understood. Intense research has resulted in increased knowledge of sepsis pathophysiology. However, the increased knowledge has not translated in improved sepsis care and treatment. One reason is the difficult translation from mouse models to human trials.

Aim

To establish a mouse model of local streptococcal skin infection that progresses to sepsis and investigate the role of platelets in sepsis pathophysiology.

Results

The cellular and molecular responses to infection were followed over time using a combination of flow cytometry, ELISA, histopathology, immunofluorescence microscopy, and quantitative mass spectrometry. Bacterial dissemination was associated with increased cytokine levels, and an initial leucocytosis and thrombocytosis that progressed into leukopenia and thrombocytopenia over time. Thrombocytopenia was preceded by platelet activation and coincided with accumulation of platelets in the organs and with intravascular clotting, which was mainly observed in the liver. We observed organ damage that progressed over time, as characterized by increased levels of organ damage plasma markers of, histopathological changes, and an altered proteome in the damaged organs. Furthermore, S. pyogenes was shown to bind to and activate platelets ex-vivo, using flow cytometry. Since platelet activation in vivo preceded both thrombocytopenia and organ damage, we investigated the platelet-specific proteome in the damaged organs. We showed that platelets mobilised to the local site of skin infection but also accumulated in the liver and kidney at the same time as bacteria disseminated to these organs.

Conclusion

We conclude that bacteria-mediated platelet activation may contribute to the pathogenesis of streptococcal sepsis which progresses from thrombocytosis to platelet activation and finally thrombocytopenia. Platelet aggregates accumulate in organs and may contribute to the organ dysfunction observed. This paper reveals novel aspects of the role of platelets in infection and sepsis pathophysiology.



Figure 15. Conclusion of paper IV

We established a mouse model of local streptococcal skin infection that progresses to sepsis. Bacterial dissemination was associated with increased cytokine levels, and an initial leukocytosis and thrombocytosis that progressed into leukopenia and thrombocytopenia over time. Thrombocytopenia was preceded by platelet activation and coincided with accumulation of platelets in the organs and with intravascular clotting, which was mainly observed in the liver. We observed organ damage that progressed over time, as characterized by increased levels of organ damage plasma markers of, histopathological changes, and an altered proteome in the damaged organs. Furthermore, S. *pyogeness* was shown to bind to and activate platelets ex-vivo, using flow cytometry. Since platelet activation in vivo preceded both thrombocytopenia and organ damage, we investigated the platelet-specific proteome in the damaged organs. We showed that platelets mobilised to the local site of skin infection but also accumulated in the liver and kidney at the same time as bacteria disseminated to these organs. We conclude that bacteria-mediated platelet activation may contribute to the pathogenesis of streptococcal sepsis which progresses from thrombocytosis to platelet activation and finally thrombocytopenia. Platelet aggregates accumulate in organs and may contribute to the organ dysfunction observed. Figure 15 was created with Biorender.

Summary

This thesis reveals novel aspects and consequences for pathogen-mediated platelet activation during invasive streptococcal infection. We present a novel mechanism of complement activation, which may contribute to platelet consumption in sepsis, and new aspects of the immunomodulatory role of fibrinogen acquisition and platelet activation during streptococcal infections. Furthermore, new aspects of pathogen-mediated platelet activation that may contribute to the coagulation and immune dysfunction during invasive streptococcal infection, and that may be used to identify biomarkers of pathogen-mediated platelet activation are presented. Finally, this thesis reveals novel aspects of the role of platelets in infection and sepsis pathophysiology. Collectively, this thesis enlightens new aspects of the immunomodulatory roles of platelets during invasive infections and illuminates novel mechanisms of streptococcal pathology.

Acknowledgements

To my supervisor **Oonagh**. I want to thank you for believing in me and making me believe in myself. You have guided and supported me on this educational journey, and you have trusted me with freedom to fail, learn, progress, and grow. You are an inspirational role model and I value your transparency and honesty. Thank you for an unforgettable experience and for showing me what teaching, supervising and science is all about!

Johan, thank you for believing in me and supporting me when I first started working with you as a research assistant. You introduced me to the world of mass spectrometry and your enthusiasm for mass spectrometry and science is truly contagious. Thank you for being my co-supervisor, for great collaborations and for excellent assistance with project design and data analysis.

Pontus, thank you for being my co-supervisor and for excellent technical assistance with fluorescence microscopy and image analysis. Your contributions really elevated the quality of the images I present in the papers and manuscripts, and of the cover image of this thesis.

To the past and present members of the Shannon research group, **Eleni**, **Gisela**, **Lisbeth**, **Sara**, **Sinead**, **and Yosh**, thank you for being a part of my PhD journey and for creating such a healthy and pleasant environment. The journey would not have been as smooth or as much fun without you guys, and I feel privileged for being part of such an empowering and inspirational group of young women in science!

I want to acknowledge the co-authors of the papers and manuscripts in this thesis. Axel and Eleni, thank you for excellent technical assistance, data analysis assistance and manuscript writing assistance! Andrietta, Christofer, Genevieve, Gisela, Kristoffer, Lotta, Ola and Sara, thank you for excellent technical assistance and data analysis assistance. Alejandro, Johan, John, Oonagh, Rolf, Sounak and Thomas, thank you for great collaborations.

Thank you, **Anita**, for everything you do for the department! Your positive energy, outstanding organisational skills and seemingly endless support is without comparison. Your work behind the scenes makes everything possible and deserves a lot more credit than it gets. I am truly grateful for all this and more, and I wish that you take care of yourself as well as you take care of us.

I want to thank all the members of the Påhlman and Rasmussen research groups for great scientific input during our joint seminars. A special thanks to Anna, Cecilia, Erik, Gustav, Karin, Lisa, Magnus P, Magnus R, Malin and Torgny for fun times in the lab and at the fika table.

Thank you **Mattias** for welcoming me to your lab as a young biomedicine student and thank you **Maria A and Rolf** for taking care of me in the Collin lab. You gave me a great first lab experience and opened my eyes to the world of science.

Inga-Maria and Ingbritt, thank you both for all your help and guidance when I first came to the department. You made me feel welcome and I could always come to you with all my questions. You never hesitated to share your expertise or your protocols.

Thank you, **Lasse**, for believing in me and supporting me when I first started as a project assistant. I also want to thank you for valuable scientific input, for creating such a great work environment at the department and for many fascinating stories at the fika table.

I want to thank **everybody at the department** for contributing to a great work environment and for enjoyable discussions at the fika table. A special thanks to everybody in the **breakfast club** and in the **cake club** for creating natural meeting points and lightening up the workday.

Thank you everybody who donated blood and made my research possible.

To all my **friends from the biomedicine program**. Thank for being part of my journey and for letting me be a part of yours. A special thanks to **Anahita**, **Eleni**, **Emma**, **Erik T**, **Johan**, **Jonatan**, **Kalle**, **Ludde and Nathalie**. From study buddies to PhD students and beyond.

Thank you everybody who participated in the **infection medicine journal club** for sharing interesting papers and for stimulating discussions.

To all my **friends outside the lab**. Thank you for taking my mind of my research and for filling my life with joy. A special thanks to **Martin**, **Maja**, **Sara and Viktor**. It is always a pleasure to spend time with you and **your families**.

To **my family**. **Erik**, thank you for always being there for me and for your support and understanding during the finalizing of this thesis. Beloved **Henry**, thank you for giving me perspective and reminding me what is important for me in life.

Mom and dad, thank you for always believing in me and making me believe in myself. You taught me that it is okay to fail, and that you don't really fail if you learn something from it. This lesson has been extremely valuable in life and in my research. Dearest sister **Fanny**, thank you for teaching me that all people are unique and handle situations differently. You have helped me to grow as a person and to become better at meeting and collaborating with different people.

References

- Hyman RW, Fukushima M, Diamond L, Kumm J, Giudice LC, Davis RW. Microbes on the human vaginal epithelium. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005 May 31;102(22):7952-7.
- Ley RE, Peterson DA, Gordon JI. Ecological and evolutionary forces shaping microbial diversity in the human intestine. Cell. 2006 Feb 24;124(4):837-48.
- Wilson B. A., Salyers A. A., Whitt D. D., Winkler M. E. Bacterial Pathogenesis: a Molecular Approach. 3 ed.: ASM; 2010 Dec 6.
- 4. Grimes DJ. Koch's Postulates Then and Now. Microbe. 2006 May;1(5):223-28.
- 5. Groisman EA, Ochman H. How to become a pathogen. Trends Microbiol. 1994 Aug;2(8):289-94.
- Nguyen AV, Soulika AM. The Dynamics of the Skin's Immune System. Int J Mol Sci. 2019 Apr 12;20(8).
- 7. Toke O. Antimicrobial peptides: new candidates in the fight against bacterial infections. Biopolymers. 2005;80(6):717-35.
- Silhavy TJ, Kahne D, Walker S. The bacterial cell envelope. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2010 May;2(5):a000414.
- 9. Beutler B. Innate immunity: an overview. Mol Immunol. 2004 Feb;40(12):845-59.
- 10. Medzhitov R, Janeway C Jr. Innate immunity. N Engl J Med. 2000 Aug 3;343(5):338-44.
- 11. Sarma JV, Ward PA. The complement system. Cell Tissue Res. 2011 Jan;343(1):227-35.
- 12. Dunkelberger JR, Song WC. Complement and its role in innate and adaptive immune responses. Cell Res. 2010 Jan;20(1):34-50.
- Danilova N, Amemiya CT. Going adaptive: the saga of antibodies. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2009 Jun;1168:130-55.
- Bettelli E, Korn T, Oukka M, Kuchroo VK. Induction and effector functions of T(H)17 cells. Nature. 2008 Jun 19;453(7198):1051-7.
- Cresswell P, Ackerman AL, Giodini A, Peaper DR, Wearsch PA. Mechanisms of MHC class I-restricted antigen processing and cross-presentation. Immunol Rev. 2005 Oct;207:145-57.
- Kersey JH, Gajl-Peczalska J. T and B lymphocytes in humans. A review. Am J Pathol. 1975;81(2):446-458.
- 17. Boes M. Role of natural and immune IgM antibodies in immune responses. Mol Immunol. 2000 Dec;37(18):1141-9.

- Bengtén E, Wilson M, Miller N, Clem LW, Pilström L, Warr GW. Immunoglobulin isotypes: structure, function, and genetics. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol. 2000;248:189-219.
- 19. Medzhitov R. Origin and physiological roles of inflammation. Nature. 2008 Jul 24;454(7203):428-35.
- 20. Barton GM. A calculated response: control of inflammation by the innate immune system. J Clin Invest. 2008 Feb;118(2):413-20.
- 21. Pober JS, Sessa WC. Evolving functions of endothelial cells in inflammation. Nat Rev Immunol. 2007 Oct;7(10):803-15.
- 22. Luyendyk J, Schoenecker J, Flick M. The multifaceted role of fibrinogen in tissue injury and inflammation. Blood. 2019 Feb 7;133(6):511-520.
- Hamaguchi M, Bunce LA, Sporn LA, Francis CW. Spreading of platelets on fibrin is mediated by the amino terminus of the beta chain including peptide beta 15-42. Blood. 1993;81(9):2348-2356.
- Rubel C, Fernandez GC, Dran G, Bompadre MB, Isturiz MA, Palermo MS. Fibrinogen promotes neutrophil activation and delays apoptosis. J Immunol. 2001 Feb 1;166(3):2002-10.
- 25. Languino LR, Duperray A, Joganic KJ, Fornaro M, Thornton GB, Altieri DC Regulation of leukocyte-endothelium interaction and leukocyte transendothelial migration by intercellular adhesion molecule 1-fibrinogen recognition. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1995 Feb 28;92(5):1505-9.
- 26. Sun H, Ringdahl U, Homeister JW, Fay WP, Engleberg NC, Yang AY, Rozek LS, Wang X, Sjöbring U, Ginsburg D. Plasminogen is a critical host pathogenicity factor for group A streptococcal infection. Science. 2004 Aug 27;305(5688):1283-6.
- Korhonen TK, Haiko J, Laakkonen L, Jarvinen HM, Westerlund-Wikstrom B. Fibrinolytic and coagulative activities of Yersinia pestis. Front Cell Infect Microbiol. 2013;3:35.
- Ko YP, Liang X, Smith CW, Degen JL, Hook M. Binding of Efb from Staphylococcus aureus to fibrinogen blocks neutrophil adherence. J Biol Chem. 2011 Mar 18;286(11):9865-74.
- 29. Serhan CN, Savill J. Resolution of inflammation: the beginning programs the end. Nat Immunol. 2005 Dec;6(12):1191-7.
- 30. Carapetis JR, Steer AC, Mulholland EK, Weber M. The global burden of group A streptococcal diseases. The Lancet Infectious Diseases. 2005;5(11):685-694.
- Cunningham MV. Pathogenesis of Group A Streptococcal Infections. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2000;13(3):470-511.
- 32. Kaplan EL, Markowitz M. The fall and rise of rheumatic fever in the United States: a commentary. Int J Cardiol. 1988;21(1):3-10.
- 33. Stevens DL, Tanner MH, Winship J, Swarts R, Ries KM, Schlievert PM, Kaplan E. Severe group A streptococcal infections associated with a toxic shock-like syndrome and scarlet fever toxin A. N Engl J Med. 1989 Jul 6;321(1):1-7.

- Cleary PP, Kaplan EL, Handley JP, Wlazlo A, Kim MH, Hauser AR, Schlievert PM. Clonal basis for resurgence of serious Streptococcus pyogenes disease in the 1980s. Lancet. 1992 Feb 29;339(8792):518-21.
- 35. Cole JN, Barnett TC, Nizet V, Walker MJ. Molecular insight into invasive group A streptococcal disease. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2011 Sep 16;9(10):724-36.
- 36. Turner CE, Dryden M, Holden MT, Davies FJ, Lawrenson RA, Farzaneh L, Bentley SD, Efstratiou A, Sriskandan S. Molecular analysis of an outbreak of lethal postpartum sepsis caused by Streptococcus pyogenes. J Clin Microbiol. 2013 Jul;51(7):2089-95.
- 37. Barnett TC, Bowen AC, Carapetis JR. The fall and rise of Group A Streptococcus diseases. Epidemiol Infect. 2018 Aug 15;147:e4.
- 38. Hasenbein ME, Warner JE, Lambert KG, Cole SE, Onderdonk AB, McAdam AJ. Detection of multiple macrolide- and lincosamide-resistant strains of Streptococcus pyogenes from patients in the Boston area. J Clin Microbiol. 2004 Apr;42(4):1559-63.
- Seppälä H, Nissinen A, Järvinen H, Huovinen S, Henriksson T, Herva E, Holm SE, Jahkola M, Katila ML, Klaukka T, et al. Resistance to erythromycin in group A streptococci. N Engl J Med. 1992 Jan 30;326(5):292-7.
- 40. Varaldo PE, Debbia EA, Nicoletti G, Pavesio D, Ripa S, Schito GC, Tempera G. Nationwide survey in Italy of treatment of Streptococcus pyogenes pharyngitis in children: influence of macrolide resistance on clinical and microbiological outcomes. Artemis-Italy Study Group. Clin Infect Dis. 1999 Oct;29(4):869-73.
- 41. Ramos M, Valle R, Reaves EJ, Loayza L, Gonzalez S, Bernal M, Soto G, Hawksworth AW, Kasper MR, Tilley DH, De Mattos CA, Brown JR, Bausch DG. Outbreak of Group A beta hemolytic Streptococcus pharyngitis in a Peruvian military facility, April 2012. MSMR. 2013 Jun;20(6):14-17.
- 42. Ertugrul BM, Erol N, Emek M, Ozturk B, Saylak OM, Cetin K, Sakarya S. Food-borne tonsillopharyngitis outbreak in a hospital cafeteria. Infection. 2012 Feb;40(1):49-55.
- 43. Sumby P, Porcella SF, Madrigal AG, Barbian KD, Virtaneva K, Ricklefs SM, Sturdevant DE, Graham MR, Vuopio-Varkila J, Hoe NP, Musser JM. Evolutionary origin and emergence of a highly successful clone of serotype M1 group a Streptococcus involved multiple horizontal gene transfer events. J Infect Dis. 2005 Sep 1;192(5):771-82.
- Johansson L, Thulin P, Low DE, Norrby-Teglund A. Getting under the skin: the immunopathogenesis of Streptococcus pyogenes deep tissue infections. Clin Infect Dis. 2010 Jul 1;51(1):58-65.
- 45. Norrby-Teglund A, Chatellier S, Low DE, McGeer A, Green K, Kotb M. Host variation in cytokine responses to superantigens determine the severity of invasive group A streptococcal infection. Eur J Immunol. 2000 Nov;30(11):3247-55.
- 46. Stevens DL. Group A Streptococcal Sepsis. Curr Infect Dis Rep. 2003 Sep;5:379-86.
- 47. Walker MJ, Barnett TC, McArthur JD, Cole JN, Gillen CM, Henningham A, Sriprakash KS, Sanderson-Smith ML, Nizet V. Disease manifestations and pathogenic mechanisms of Group A Streptococcus. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2014 Apr;27(2):264-301.

- Cue D, Dombek PE, Lam H, Cleary PP. Streptococcus pyogenes serotype M1 encodes multiple pathways for entry into human epithelial cells. Infect Immun. 1998 Oct;66(10):4593-601.
- Siemens N, Patenge N, Otto J, Fiedler T, Kreikemeyer B. Streptococcus pyogenes M49 plasminogen/plasmin binding facilitates keratinocyte invasion via integrin-integrinlinked kinase (ILK) pathways and protects from macrophage killing. J Biol Chem. 2011 Jun 17;286(24):21612-22.
- 50. Cue D, Lam H, Cleary PP. Genetic dissection of the Streptococcus pyogenes M1 protein: regions involved in fibronectin binding and intracellular invasion. Microb Pathog. 2001 Nov;31(5):231-42.
- 51. Barnett TC, Liebl D, Seymour LM, Gillen CM, Lim JY, Larock CN, Davies MR, Schulz BL, Nizet V, Teasdale RD, Walker MJ. The globally disseminated M1T1 clone of group A Streptococcus evades autophagy for intracellular replication. Cell Host Microbe. 2013 Dec 11;14(6):675-82.
- 52. Berggård K, Johnsson E, Morfeldt E, Persson J, Stålhammar-Carlemalm M, Lindahl G. Binding of human C4BP to the hypervariable region of M protein: a molecular mechanism of phagocytosis resistance in Streptococcus pyogenes. Mol Microbiol. 2001 Oct;42(2):539-51.
- 53. Horstmann RD, Sievertsen HJ, Knobloch J, Fischetti VA. U S A. Antiphagocytic activity of streptococcal M protein: selective binding of complement control protein factor H. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1988 Mar;85(5):1657-1661.
- Horstmann RD, Sievertsen HJ, Leippe M, Fischetti VA. Role of fibrinogen in complement inhibition by streptococcal M protein. Infect Immun. 1992 Dec;60(12):5036-5041.
- 55. Ly D, Taylor JM, Tsatsaronis JA, Monteleone MM, Skora AS, Donald CA, Maddocks T, Nizet V, West NP, Ranson M, Walker MJ, McArthur JD, Sanderson-Smith ML. Plasmin(ogen) acquisition by group A Streptococcus protects against C3b-mediated neutrophil killing. J Innate Immun. 2014;6(2):240-50.
- Akesson P, Sjoholm AG, Bjorck L. Protein SIC, a novel extracellular protein of Streptococcus pyogenes interfering with complement function. J Biol Chem. 1996 Jan 12;271(2):1081-8.
- 57. Dale JB, Washburn RG, Marques MB, Wessels MR. Hyaluronate capsule and surface M protein in resistance to opsonization of group A streptococci. Infect Immun. 1996 May;64(5):1495-1501.
- 58. Cole JN, Pence MA, von Kockritz-Blickwede M, Hollands A, Gallo RL, Walker MJ, Nizet V. M protein and hyaluronic acid capsule are essential for in vivo selection of covRS mutations characteristic of invasive serotype M1T1 group A Streptococcus. mBio. 2010 Aug 31;1(4).
- 59. Stollerman GH, Dale JB. The importance of the group a streptococcus capsule in the pathogenesis of human infections: a historical perspective. Clin Infect Dis. 2008 Apr 1;46(7):1038-45.
- 60. Wessels MR, Bronze MS. Critical role of the group A streptococcal capsule in pharyngeal colonization and infection in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1994 Dec 6;91(25):12238-42.

- 61. Stenberg L, O'Toole P, Lindahl G. Many group A streptococcal strains express two different immunoglobulin-binding proteins, encoded by closely linked genes: characterization of the proteins expressed by four strains of different M-type. Mol Microbiol. 1992 May;6(9):1185-94.
- 62. Akesson P, Moritz L, Truedsson M, Christensson B, von Pawel-Rammingen U. IdeS, a highly specific immunoglobulin G (IgG)-cleaving enzyme from Streptococcus pyogenes, is inhibited by specific IgG antibodies generated during infection. Infect Immun. 2006 Jan;74(1):497-503.
- Collin M, Svensson MD, Sjoholm AG, Jensenius JC, Sjobring U, Olsen A. EndoS and SpeB from Streptococcus pyogenes inhibit immunoglobulin-mediated opsonophagocytosis. Infect Immun. 2002 Dec;70(12):6646-51.
- 64. Collin M, Olsen A. Effect of SpeB and EndoS from Streptococcus pyogenes on human immunoglobulins. Infect Immun. 2001 Nov;69(11):7187-9.
- 65. Timmer AM, Timmer JC, Pence MA, Hsu LC, Ghochani M, Frey TG, Karin M, Salvesen GS, Nizet V. Streptolysin O promotes group A Streptococcus immune evasion by accelerated macrophage apoptosis. J Biol Chem. 2009 Jan 9;284(2):862-71.
- 66. Miyoshi-Akiyama T TD, Koyanagi M, Zhao J, Imanishi K, Uchiyama T. Cytocidal effect of Streptococcus pyogenes on mouse neutrophils in vivo and the critical role of streptolysin S. J Infect Dis. 2005 Jul 1;192(1):107-16.
- 67. Bryant AE, Bayer CR, Chen RY, Guth PH, Wallace RJ, Stevens DL. . Vascular dysfunction and ischemic destruction of tissue in Streptococcus pyogenes infection: the role of streptolysin O-induced platelet/neutrophil complexes. J Infect Dis. 2005 Sep 15;192(6):1014-22.
- 68. Sierig G, Cywes C, Wessels MR, Ashbaugh CD. Cytotoxic effects of streptolysin o and streptolysin s enhance the virulence of poorly encapsulated group a streptococci. Infect Immun. 2003 Jan;71(1):446-55.
- Limbago B, Penumalli V, Weinrick B, Scott JR. Role of streptolysin O in a mouse model of invasive group A streptococcal disease. Infect Immun. 2000 Nov;68(11):6384-6390.
- Frick IM, Akesson P, Rasmussen M, Schmidtchen A, Bjorck L. SIC, a secreted protein of Streptococcus pyogenes that inactivates antibacterial peptides. J Biol Chem. 2003 May 9;278(19):16561-6.
- Nyberg P, Rasmussen M, Bjorck L. alpha2-Macroglobulin-proteinase complexes protect Streptococcus pyogenes from killing by the antimicrobial peptide LL-37. J Biol Chem. 2004 Dec 17;279(51):52820-3.
- 72. Zinkernagel AS, Timmer AM, Pence MA, Locke JB, Buchanan JT, Turner CE, Mishalian I, Sriskandan S, Hanski E, Nizet V. The IL-8 protease SpyCEP/ScpC of group A Streptococcus promotes resistance to neutrophil killing. Cell Host Microbe. 2008 Aug 14;4(2):170-8.
- 73. Chen CC, Cleary PP. Complete nucleotide sequence of the streptococcal C5a peptidase gene of Streptococcus pyogenes. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 1990;265(6):3161-3167.

- 74. Kurupati P, Turner CE, Tziona I, Lawrenson RA, Alam FM, Nohadani M, Stamp GW, Zinkernagel AS, Nizet V, Edwards RJ, Sriskandan S. Chemokine-cleaving Streptococcus pyogenes protease SpyCEP is necessary and sufficient for bacterial dissemination within soft tissues and the respiratory tract. Mol Microbiol. 2010 Jun;76(6):1387-97.
- 75. Buchanan JT, Simpson AJ, Aziz RK, Liu GY, Kristian SA, Kotb M, Feramisco J, Nizet V. DNase expression allows the pathogen group A Streptococcus to escape killing in neutrophil extracellular traps. Curr Biol. 2006 Feb 21;16(4):396-400.
- 76. Wang H, Lottenberg R, Boyle MD. Analysis of the interaction of group A streptococci with fibrinogen, streptokinase and plasminogen. Microb Pathog. 1995 Mar;18(3):153-66.
- 77. McKay FC, McArthur JD, Sanderson-Smith ML, Gardam S, Currie BJ, Sriprakash KS, Fagan PK, Towers RJ, Batzloff MR, Chhatwal GS, Ranson M, Walker MJ. Plasminogen binding by group A streptococcal isolates from a region of hyperendemicity for streptococcal skin infection and a high incidence of invasive infection. Infect Immun. 2004 Jan;72(1):364-70.
- 78. Castellino FJ, Ploplis VA. Structure and function of the plasminogen/plasmin system. Thromb Haemost. 2005 Apr;93(4):647-54.
- 79. Ben Nasr A, Herwald H, Sjöbring U, Renné T, Müller-Esterl W, Björck L. Absorption of kininogen from human plasma by Streptococcus pyogenes is followed by the release of bradykinin. Biochem J. 1997 Sep 15;326(Pt 3):657-60.
- Herwald H, Cramer H, Mörgelin M, Russell W, Sollenberg U, Norrby-Teglund A, Flodgaard H, Lindbom L, Björck L. M Protein, a Classical Bacterial Virulence Determinant, Forms Complexes with Fibrinogen that Induce Vascular Leakage. Cell. 2004 Feb 6;116(3):367-79.
- Oehmcke S, Shannon O, Morgelin M, Herwald H. Streptococcal M proteins and their role as virulence determinants. Clin Chim Acta. 2010 Sep 6;411(17-18):1172-80.
- Oehmcke S, Shannon O, von Kockritz-Blickwede M, Morgelin M, Linder A, Olin AI, Bjorck L, Herwald H. Treatment of invasive streptococcal infection with a peptide derived from human high-molecular weight kininogen. Blood. 2009 Jul 9;114(2):444-51.
- 83. Linder A, Johansson L, Thulin P, Hertzen E, Morgelin M, Christensson B, Bjorck L, Norrby-Teglund A, Akesson P. Erysipelas caused by group A streptococcus activates the contact system and induces the release of heparin-binding protein. J Invest Dermatol. 2010 May;130(5):1365-72.
- 84. Bryant AE, Hayes-Schroer SM, Stevens DL. M type 1 and 3 group A streptococci stimulate tissue factor-mediated procoagulant activity in human monocytes and endothelial cells. Infect Immun. 2003 Apr;71(4):1903-10.
- Pahlman LI, Malmstrom E, Morgelin M, Herwald H. M protein from Streptococcus pyogenes induces tissue factor expression and pro-coagulant activity in human monocytes. Microbiology. 2007 Aug;153(Pt 8):2458-2464.
- Shannon O, Hertzen E, Norrby-Teglund A, Morgelin M, Sjobring U, Bjorck L. Severe streptococcal infection is associated with M protein-induced platelet activation and thrombus formation. Mol Microbiol. 2007 Sep;65(5):1147-57.

- Kahn F, Hurley S, Shannon O. Platelets promote bacterial dissemination in a mouse model of streptococcal sepsis. Microbes Infect. 2013 Sep-Oct;15(10-11):669-76.
- 88. Darenberg J, Ihendyane N, Sjölin J, Aufwerber E, Haidl S, Follin P, Andersson J, Norrby-Teglund A; StreptIg Study Group. Intravenous immunoglobulin G therapy in streptococcal toxic shock syndrome: a European randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial. Clin Infect Dis. 2003 Aug 1;37(3):333-40.
- 89. Kang S, Tanaka T, Narazaki M, Kishimoto T. Targeting Interleukin-6 Signaling in Clinic. Immunity. 2019 Apr 16;50(4):1007-1023.
- 90. McMillan DJ, Dreze PA, Vu T, Bessen DE, Guglielmini J, Steer AC, Carapetis JR, Van Melderen L, Sriprakash KS, Smeesters PR. Updated model of group A Streptococcus M proteins based on a comprehensive worldwide study. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2013 May;19(5):E222-9.
- 91. Kirvan CA, Swedo SE, Heuser JS, Cunningham MW. Mimicry and autoantibodymediated neuronal cell signaling in Sydenham chorea. Nat Med. 2003;9(7):914-20.
- Phillips GN Jr, Flicker PF, Cohen C, Manjula BN, Fischetti VA. Streptococcal M protein: alpha-helical coiled-coil structure and arrangement on the cell surface. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1981;78(8):4689-93.
- Fischetti V. Streptococcal M protein: molecular design and biological behavior. Clin Microbiol Rev. 1989 Jul;2(3):285-314.
- 94. Gherardi G, Vitali LA, Creti R. Prevalent emm Types among Invasive GAS in Europe and North America since Year 2000. Front Public Health. 2018 Mar 9;6:59.
- 95. Bessen DE, Lizano S. Tissue tropisms in group A streptococcal infections. Future Microbiol. 2010 Apr;5(4):623-38.
- Smeesters PR, McMillan DJ, KS. S. The streptococcal M protein: a highly versatile molecule. Trends Microbiol. 2010 Jun;18(6):275-82.
- 97. Bessen DE, Fiorentino TR, Hollingshead SK. Molecular markers for throat and skin isolates of group A streptococci. Adv Exp Med Biol. 1997;418:537-43.
- Macheboeuf P, Buffalo C, Fu CY, Zinkernagel AS, Cole JN, Johnson JE, Nizet V, Ghosh P. Streptococcal M1 protein constructs a pathological host fibrinogen network. Nature. 2011 Apr 7;472(7341):64-8.
- Akesson P, Schmidt KH, Cooney J, Bjorck L. M protein and Protein H: IgGFc- and albumin-binding streptococcal surface proteins encoded by adjacent genes. Biochem J. 1994 Jun 15;300(Pt 3):877-86.
- 100. Berge A, Bjorck L. Streptococcal cysteine proteinase releases biologically active fragments of streptococcal surface proteins. J Biol Chem. 1995 Apr 28;270(17):9862-7.
- 101. Kahn F, Morgelin M, Shannon O, Norrby-Teglund A, Herwald H, Olin AI, Bjorck L. Antibodies against a surface protein of Streptococcus pyogenes promote a pathological inflammatory response. PLoS Pathog. 2008 Sep 12;4(9):e1000149.
- 102. Pahlman LI, Olin AI, Darenberg J, Morgelin M, Kotb M, Herwald H, Norrby-Teglund A. Soluble M1 protein of Streptococcus pyogenes triggers potent T cell activation. Cell Microbiol. 2008 Feb;10(2):404-14.
- 103. Hurley SM, Kahn F, Nordenfelt P, Morgelin M, Sorensen OE, Shannon O. Platelet-Dependent Neutrophil Function Is Dysregulated by M Protein from Streptococcus pyogenes. Infect Immun. 2015 Sep;83(9):3515-25.
- 104. McKenzie SE, Taylor SM, Malladi P, Yuhan H, Cassel DL, Chien P, Schwartz E, Schreiber AD, Surrey S, Reilly MP. The role of the human Fc receptor Fc gamma RIIA in the immune clearance of platelets: a transgenic mouse model. J Immunol. 1999 Apr 1;162(7):4311-8.
- 105. Ringdahl U, Svensson H, Kotarsky H, Gustafsson M, Weineisen M, SjoÈ bring U. A role for the fibrinogen-binding regions of streptococcal M proteins in phagocytosis resistance. Molecular Microbiology. 2000;37.
- 106. Carlsson F, Sandin C, Lindahl G. Human fibrinogen bound to Streptococcus pyogenes M protein inhibits complement deposition via the classical pathway. Mol Microbiol. 2005 Apr;56(1):28-39.
- 107. Sandin C, Carlsson F, Lindahl G. Binding of human plasma proteins to Streptococcus pyogenes M protein determines the location of opsonic and non-opsonic epitopes. Mol Microbiol. 2006 Jan;59(1):20-30.
- 108. Ghosh P. The nonideal coiled coil of M protein and its multifarious functions in pathogenesis. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2011;715:197-211.
- 109. Linder A, Christensson B, Herwald H, Bjorck L, Akesson P. Heparin-binding protein: an early marker of circulatory failure in sepsis. Clin Infect Dis. 2009 Oct 1;49(7):1044-50.
- 110. Rudd KE, Johnson SC, Agesa KM, Shackelford KA, Tsoi D, Kievlan DR, Colombara DV, Ikuta KS, Kissoon N, Finfer S, Fleischmann-Struzek C, Machado FR, Reinhart KK, Rowan K, Seymour CW, Watson RS, West TE, Marinho F, Hay SI, Lozano R, Lopez AD, Angus DC, Murray CJL, Naghavi M. Global, regional, and national sepsis incidence and mortality, 1990–2017: analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study. The Lancet. 2020;395(10219):200-211.
- 111. Singer M, Deutschman CS, Seymour CW, Shankar-Hari M, Annane D, Bauer M, Bellomo R, Bernard GR, Chiche JD, Coopersmith CM, Hotchkiss RS, Levy MM, Marshall JC, Martin GS, Opal SM, Rubenfeld GD, van der Poll T, Vincent JL, Angus DC. The Third International Consensus Definitions for Sepsis and Septic Shock (Sepsis-3). JAMA. 2016 Feb 23;315(8):801-10.
- 112. Angus DC, van der Poll T. Severe sepsis and septic shock. N Engl J Med. 2013 Aug 29;369(9):840-51.
- Cohen J. The immunopathogenesis of sepsis. Nature. 2002 Dec 19-26;420(6917):885-91.
- 114. Hamers L, Kox M, Pickkers P. Sepsis-induced immunoparalysis: mechanisms, markers, and treatment options. Minerva Anestesiol. 2015;81(4):426-39.
- 115. Rittirsch D, Flierl MA, Ward PA. Harmful molecular mechanisms in sepsis. Nat Rev Immunol. 2008 Oct;8(10):776-87.
- Opal SM, van der Poll T. Endothelial barrier dysfunction in septic shock. J Intern Med. 2015 Mar;277(3):277-293.
- 117. Levi M, Löwenberg EC. Thrombocytopenia in critically ill patients. Semin Thromb Hemost. 2008 Jul;34(5):417-24.

- 118. Levi M, Ten Cate H. Disseminated intravascular coagulation. N Engl J Med. 1999 Aug 19;341(8):586-92.
- Vincent JL, Zhang H, Szabo C, Preiser JC. Effects of nitric oxide in septic shock. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2000 Jun;161(6):1781-5.
- 120. Girardot T, Rimmele T, Venet F, Monneret G. Apoptosis-induced lymphopenia in sepsis and other severe injuries. Apoptosis. 2017 Feb;22(2):295-305.
- 121. Panacek EA, Marshall JC, Albertson TE, Johnson DH, Johnson S, MacArthur RD, Miller M, Barchuk WT, Fischkoff S, Kaul M, Teoh L, Van Meter L, Daum L, Lemeshow S, Hicklin G, Doig C. Monoclonal Anti-TNF: a Randomized Controlled Sepsis Study Investigators. Efficacy and safety of the monoclonal anti-tumor necrosis factor antibody F(ab')2 fragment afelimomab in patients with severe sepsis and elevated interleukin-6 levels. Crit Care Med. 2004 Nov;32(11):2173-82.
- Riedemann NC, Guo RF, Ward PA. Novel strategies for the treatment of sepsis. Nat Med. 2003 May;9(5):517-24.
- Daly ME. Determinants of platelet count in humans. Haematologica. 2011 Jan;96(1):10-3.
- 124. Handtke S, Thiele T. Large and small platelets-(When) do they differ? J Thromb Haemost. 2020 Jun;18(6):1256-1267.
- 125. Arce NA, Li R. The secret afterlife of platelets. Haematologica. 2019 Sep;104(9):1699-1701.
- 126. Farndale RW, Siljander PR, Onley DJ, Sundaresan P, Knight CG, Barnes MJ. Collagen-platelet interactions: recognition and signalling. Biochem Soc Symp. 2003;(70):81-94.
- De Meyer SF, Deckmyn H, Vanhoorelbeke K. von Willebrand factor to the rescue. Blood. 2009 May 21;113(21):5049-57.
- 128. Broos K, Feys HB, De Meyer SF, Vanhoorelbeke K, Deckmyn H. Platelets at work in primary hemostasis. Blood Rev. 2011 Jul;25(4):155-67.
- Bergmeier W, Stefanini L. Novel molecules in calcium signaling in platelets. J Thromb Haemost. 2009 Jul;7 Suppl 1:187-90.
- 130. Gong H, Shen B, Flevaris P, Chow C, Lam SC, Voyno-Yasenetskaya TA, Kozasa T, Du X. G protein subunit Galpha13 binds to integrin alphaIIbbeta3 and mediates integrin "outside-in" signaling. Science. 2010 Jan 15;327(5963):340-3.
- 131. Mause SF, Weber C. Microparticles: protagonists of a novel communication network for intercellular information exchange. Circ Res. 2010 Oct 29;107(9):1047-57.
- 132. Savage B, Saldívar E, Ruggeri ZM. Initiation of platelet adhesion by arrest onto fibrinogen or translocation on von Willebrand factor. Cell. 1996 Jan 26;84(2):289-97.
- Ruggeri ZM, Mendolicchio GL. Adhesion mechanisms in platelet function. Circ Res. 2007 Jun 22;100(12):1673-85.
- Reed GL. Platelet secretory mechanisms. Semin Thromb Hemost. 2004 Aug;30(4):441-50.

- 135. Huang J, Li X, Shi X, Zhu M, Wang J, Huang S, Huang X, Wang H, Li L, Deng H, Zhou Y, Mao J, Long Z, Ma Z, Ye W, Pan J, Xi X, Jin J. Platelet integrin alphaIIbbeta3: signal transduction, regulation, and its therapeutic targeting. J Hematol Oncol. 2019 Mar 7;12(1):26.
- 136. Coughlin SR. Protease-activated receptors in hemostasis, thrombosis and vascular biology. J Thromb Haemost. 2005 Aug;3(8):1800-14.
- 137. Narumiya S, Sugimoto Y, Ushikubi F. Prostanoid receptors: structures, properties, and functions. Physiol Rev. 1999 Oct;79(4):1193-226.
- 138. Park JW, Piknova B, Nghiem K, Lozier JN, Schechter AN. Inhibitory effect of nitrite on coagulation processes demonstrated by thrombelastography. Nitric Oxide. 2014 Aug 31;40:45-51.
- Maynard DM, Heijnen HF, Horne MK, White JG, Gahl WA. Proteomic analysis of platelet alpha-granules using mass spectrometry. J Thromb Haemost. 2007 Sep;5(9):1945-55.
- 140. Sehgal S, Storrie B. Evidence that differential packaging of the major platelet granule proteins von Willebrand factor and fibrinogen can support their differential release. J Thromb Haemost. 2007 Oct;5(10):2009-16.
- 141. Berger G, Masse JM, Cramer EM. Alpha-granule membrane mirrors the platelet plasma membrane and contains the glycoproteins Ib, IX, and V. Blood. 1996;87(4):1385-1395.
- 142. McNicol A, Israels SJ. Platelet dense granules: structure, function and implications for haemostasis. Thromb Res. 1999 Jul 1;95(1):1-18.
- 143. Italiano JE, Jr., Richardson JL, Patel-Hett S, Battinelli E, Zaslavsky A, Short S, Ryeom S, Folkman J, Klement GL. Angiogenesis is regulated by a novel mechanism: pro- and antiangiogenic proteins are organized into separate platelet alpha granules and differentially released. Blood. 2008 Feb 1;111(3):1227-33.
- 144. Italiano JE, Jr., Battinelli EM. Selective sorting of alpha-granule proteins. J Thromb Haemost. 2009 Jul;7 Suppl 1:173-6.
- 145. Fox JE. The platelet cytoskeleton. Thromb Haemost. 1993 Dec 20;70(6):884-93.
- 146. Selvadurai MV, Hamilton JR. Structure and function of the open canalicular system the platelet's specialized internal membrane network. Platelets. 2018 Jun;29(4):319-325.
- 147. Burnier L, Fontana P, Kwak BR, Angelillo-Scherrer A. Cell-derived microparticles in haemostasis and vascular medicine. Thromb Haemost. 2009 Mar;101(3):439-51.
- 148. Holme PA, Solum NO, Brosstad F, Pedersen T, Kveine M. Microvesicles bind soluble fibrinogen, adhere to immobilized fibrinogen and coaggregate with platelets. Thromb Haemost. 1998 Feb;79(2):389-94.
- 149. Wang Y, Zhang S, Luo L, Norström E, Braun OÖ, Mörgelin M, Thorlacius H. Platelet-derived microparticles regulates thrombin generation via phophatidylserine in abdominal sepsis. J Cell Physiol. 2018 Feb;233(2):1051-1060.
- 150. Owens AP, 3rd, Mackman N. Microparticles in hemostasis and thrombosis. Circ Res. 2011 May 13;108(10):1284-97.

- 151. Brown GT, McIntyre TM. Lipopolysaccharide signaling without a nucleus: kinase cascades stimulate platelet shedding of proinflammatory IL-1beta-rich microparticles. J Immunol. 2011 May 1;186(9):5489-96.
- 152. Boilard E. Extracellular vesicles and their content in bioactive lipid mediators: more than a sack of microRNA. J Lipid Res. 2018 Nov;59(11):2037-2046.
- 153. Bei JJ, Liu C, Peng S, Liu CH, Zhao WB, Qu XL, Chen Q, Zhou Z, Yu ZP, Peter K, Hu HY. Staphylococcal SSL5-induced platelet microparticles provoke proinflammatory responses via the CD40/TRAF6/NFκB signalling pathway in monocytes. Thromb Haemost. 2016 Mar;115(3):632-45.
- 154. Shai E, Rosa I, Parguina AF, Motahedeh S, Varon D, Garcia A. Comparative analysis of platelet-derived microparticles reveals differences in their amount and proteome depending on the platelet stimulus. J Proteomics. 2012 Dec 5;76 Spec No.:287-96.
- 155. Milioli M, Ibanez-Vea M, Sidoli S, Palmisano G, Careri M, Larsen MR. Quantitative proteomics analysis of platelet-derived microparticles reveals distinct protein signatures when stimulated by different physiological agonists. J Proteomics. 2015 May 21;121:56-66.
- 156. VanWijk MJ, VanBavel E, Sturk A, Nieuwland R. Microparticles in cardiovascular diseases. Cardiovascular Research. 2003 Aug 1;59(2):277-87.
- 157. Grigorian M, Hartenstein V. Hematopoiesis and hematopoietic organs in arthropods. Dev Genes Evol. 2013 Mar;223(1-2):103-15.
- 158. Engelmann B, Massberg S. Thrombosis as an intravascular effector of innate immunity. Nat Rev Immunol. 2013 Jan;13(1):34-45.
- 159. Hamzeh-Cognasse H, Berthelot P, Tardy B, Pozzetto B, Bourlet T, Laradi S, Garraud O, Cognasse F. Platelet toll-like receptors are crucial sensors of infectious danger moieties. Platelets. 2018 Sep;29(6):533-540.
- 160. Guo L, Rondina MT. The Era of Thromboinflammation: Platelets Are Dynamic Sensors and Effector Cells During Infectious Diseases. Front Immunol. 2019;10:2204.
- 161. King M, McDermott P, Schreiber AD. Characterization of the Fc gamma receptor on human platelets. Cell Immunol. 1990;128(2):462-79.
- 162. Worth RG, Chien CD, Chien P, Reilly MP, McKenzie SE, Schreiber AD. Platelet FcgammaRIIA binds and internalizes IgG-containing complexes. Exp Hematol. 2006 Nov;34(11):1490-5.
- 163. Calvete J. Platelet integrin GPIIb/IIIa: structure-function correlations. An update and lessons from other integrins. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med. 1999 Oct;222(1):29-38.
- 164. Bennett JS, Berger BW, Billings PC. The structure and function of platelet integrins. J Thromb Haemost. 2009 Jul;7 Suppl 1:200-5.
- 165. Shannon O. Platelet interaction with bacterial toxins and secreted products. Platelets. 2015;26(4):302-8.

- 166. Gaertner F, Ahmad Z, Rosenberger G, Fan S, Nicolai L, Busch B, Yavuz G, Luckner M, Ishikawa-Ankerhold H, Hennel R, Benechet A, Lorenz M, Chandraratne S, Schubert I, Helmer S, Striednig B, Stark K, Janko M, Bottcher RT, Verschoor A, Leon C, Gachet C, Gudermann T, Mederos YSM, Pincus Z, Iannacone M, Haas R, Wanner G, Lauber K, Sixt M, Massberg S. Migrating Platelets Are Mechanoscavengers that Collect and Bundle Bacteria. Cell. 2017 Nov 30;171(6):1368-1382.
- 167. Banerjee M, Huang Y, Joshi S, Popa GJ, Mendenhall MD, Wang QJ, Garvy BA, Myint T, Whiteheart SW. Platelets Endocytose Viral Particles and Are Activated via TLR (Toll-Like Receptor) Signaling. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2020 Jul;40(7):1635-1650.
- 168. Yeaman MR, Norman DC, Bayer AS. Platelet microbicidal protein enhances antibiotic-induced killing of and postantibiotic effect in Staphylococcus aureus. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 1992 Aug;36(8):1665-70.
- 169. Riaz AH, Tasma BE, Woodman ME, Wooten RM, Worth RG. Human platelets efficiently kill IgG-opsonized E. coli. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol. 2012 Jun;65(1):78-83.
- 170. Svensson L, Baumgarten M, Morgelin M, Shannon O. Platelet activation by Streptococcus pyogenes leads to entrapment in platelet aggregates, from which bacteria subsequently escape. Infect Immun. 2014 Oct;82(10):4307-14.
- 171. Broadley SP, Plaumann A, Coletti R, Lehmann C, Wanisch A, Seidlmeier A, Esser K, Luo S, Ramer PC, Massberg S, Busch DH, van Lookeren Campagne M, Verschoor A. Dual-Track Clearance of Circulating Bacteria Balances Rapid Restoration of Blood Sterility with Induction of Adaptive Immunity. Cell Host Microbe. 2016 Jul 13;20(1):36-48.
- 172. Palankar R, Kohler TP, Krauel K, Wesche J, Hammerschmidt S, Greinacher A. Platelets kill bacteria by bridging innate and adaptive immunity via platelet factor 4 and FcgammaRIIA. J Thromb Haemost. 2018 Jun;16(6):1187-1197.
- 173. Wolff M, Handtke S, Palankar R, Wesche J, Kohler TP, Kohler C, Gruel Y, Hammerschmidt S, Greinacher A. Activated platelets kill Staphylococcus aureus, but not Streptococcus pneumoniae-The role of FcgammaRIIa and platelet factor 4/heparinantibodies. J Thromb Haemost. 2020 Jun;18(6):1459-1468.
- 174. Arman M, Krauel K. Human platelet IgG Fc receptor FcgammaRIIA in immunity and thrombosis. J Thromb Haemost. 2015 Jun;13(6):893-908.
- 175. Maouia A, Rebetz J, Kapur R, Semple JW. The Immune Nature of Platelets Revisited. Transfus Med Rev. 2020 Oct;34(4):209-220.
- 176. Polgar J, Matuskova J, Wagner DD. The P-selectin, tissue factor, coagulation triad. J Thromb Haemost. 2005 Aug;3(8):1590-6.
- 177. Speth C, Rambach G, Wurzner R, Lass-Florl C, Kozarcanin H, Hamad OA, Nilsson B, Ekdahl KN. Complement and platelets: Mutual interference in the immune network. Mol Immunol. 2015 Sep;67(1):108-18.
- 178. Carter AM. Complement activation: an emerging player in the pathogenesis of cardiovascular disease. Scientifica (Cairo). 2012;2012:402783.

- 179. Langer HF, Daub K, Braun G, Schonberger T, May AE, Schaller M, Stein GM, Stellos K, Bueltmann A, Siegel-Axel D, Wendel HP, Aebert H, Roecken M, Seizer P, Santoso S, Wesselborg S, Brossart P, Gawaz M. Platelets recruit human dendritic cells via Mac-1/JAM-C interaction and modulate dendritic cell function in vitro. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2007 Jun;27(6):1463-70.
- 180. Chapman LM, Aggrey AA, Field DJ, Srivastava K, Ture S, Yui K, Topham DJ, Baldwin WM, 3rd, Morrell CN. Platelets present antigen in the context of MHC class I. J Immunol. 2012 Jul 15;189(2):916-23.
- 181. Li N. Platelet-lymphocyte cross-talk. J Leukoc Biol. 2008 May;83(5):1069-78.
- 182. Yaguchi A, Lobo FL, Vincent JL, Pradier O. Platelet function in sepsis. J Thromb Haemost. 2004 Dec;2(12):2096-102.
- 183. Adamzik M, Gorlinger K, Peters J, Hartmann M. Whole blood impedance aggregometry as a biomarker for the diagnosis and prognosis of severe sepsis. Crit Care. 2012 Oct 22;16(5):R204.
- 184. Iba T, Levy JH. Inflammation and thrombosis: roles of neutrophils, platelets and endothelial cells and their interactions in thrombus formation during sepsis. J Thromb Haemost. 2018 Feb;16(2):231-241.
- 185. Henn V, Slupsky JR, Gräfe M, Anagnostopoulos I, Förster R, Müller-Berghaus G, Kroczek RA. CD40 ligand on activated platelets triggers an inflammatory reaction of endothelial cells. Nature. 1998 Feb 5;391(6667):591-4.
- 186. Cloutier N, Allaeys I, Marcoux G, Machlus KR, Mailhot B, Zufferey A, Levesque T, Becker Y, Tessandier N, Melki I, Zhi H, Poirier G, Rondina MT, Italiano JE, Flamand L, McKenzie SE, Cote F, Nieswandt B, Khan WI, Flick MJ, Newman PJ, Lacroix S, Fortin PR, Boilard E. Platelets release pathogenic serotonin and return to circulation after immune complex-mediated sequestration. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2018 Feb 13;115(7):E1550-E1559.
- 187. Gawaz M, Fateh-Moghadam S, Pilz G, Gurland HJ, Werdan K. Platelet activation and interaction with leucocytes in patients with sepsis or multiple organ failure. Eur J Clin Invest. 1995 Nov;25(11):843-51.
- 188. Gawaz M, Dickfeld T, Bogner C, Fateh-Moghadam S, Neumann FJ. Platelet function in septic multiple organ dysfunction syndrome. Intensive Care Med. 1997 Apr;23(4):379-85.
- 189. Clark SR, Ma AC, Tavener SA, McDonald B, Goodarzi Z, Kelly MM, Patel KD, Chakrabarti S, McAvoy E, Sinclair GD, Keys EM, Allen-Vercoe E, Devinney R, Doig CJ, Green FH, Kubes P. Platelet TLR4 activates neutrophil extracellular traps to ensnare bacteria in septic blood. Nat Med. 2007 Apr;13(4):463-9.
- 190. Brinkmann V, Reichard U, Goosmann C, Fauler B, Uhlemann Y, Weiss DS, Weinrauch Y, Zychlinsky A. Neutrophil extracellular traps kill bacteria. Science. 2004 Mar 5;303(5663):1532-5.
- 191. Fuchs TA, Brill A, Duerschmied D, Schatzberg D, Monestier M, Myers DD, Jr., Wrobleski SK, Wakefield TW, Hartwig JH, Wagner DD. Extracellular DNA traps promote thrombosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010 Sep 7;107(36):15880-5.

- 192. Czaikoski PG, Mota JM, Nascimento DC, Sonego F, Castanheira FV, Melo PH, Scortegagna GT, Silva RL, Barroso-Sousa R, Souto FO, Pazin-Filho A, Figueiredo F, Alves-Filho JC, Cunha FQ. Neutrophil Extracellular Traps Induce Organ Damage during Experimental and Clinical Sepsis. PLoS One. 2016;11(2):e0148142.
- 193. Rossaint J, Zarbock A. Platelets in leucocyte recruitment and function. Cardiovasc Res. 2015 Aug 1;107(3):386-95.
- 194. Campbell RA, Franks Z, Bhatnagar A, Rowley JW, Manne BK, Supiano MA, Schwertz H, Weyrich AS, Rondina MT. Granzyme A in Human Platelets Regulates the Synthesis of Proinflammatory Cytokines by Monocytes in Aging. J Immunol. 2018 Jan 1;200(1):295-304.
- 195. de Stoppelaar SF, van 't Veer C, van der Poll T. The role of platelets in sepsis. Thromb Haemost. 2014 Oct;112(4):666-77.
- 196. Venkata C, Kashyap R, Farmer JC, Afessa B. Thrombocytopenia in adult patients with sepsis: incidence, risk factors, and its association with clinical outcome. J Intensive Care. 2013 Dec 30;1(1):9.
- 197. Sharma B, Sharma M, Majumder M, Steier W, Sangal A, Kalawar M. Thrombocytopenia in septic shock patients--a prospective observational study of incidence, risk factors and correlation with clinical outcome. Anaesth Intensive Care. 2007 Dec;35(6):874-80.
- 198. Aslam R, Speck ER, Kim M, Crow AR, Bang KW, Nestel FP, Ni H, Lazarus AH, Freedman J, Semple JW. Platelet Toll-like receptor expression modulates lipopolysaccharide-induced thrombocytopenia and tumor necrosis factor-alpha production in vivo. Blood. 2006 Jan 15;107(2):637-41.
- 199. Alonzo MT, Lacuesta TL, Dimaano EM, Kurosu T, Suarez LA, Mapua CA, Akeda Y, Matias RR, Kuter DJ, Nagata S, Natividad FF, Oishi K. Platelet apoptosis and apoptotic platelet clearance by macrophages in secondary dengue virus infections. J Infect Dis. 2012 Apr 15;205(8):1321-9.
- 200. Kraemer BF, Campbell RA, Schwertz H, Franks ZG, Vieira de Abreu A, Grundler K, Kile BT, Dhakal BK, Rondina MT, Kahr WH, Mulvey MA, Blaylock RC, Zimmerman GA, Weyrich AS. Bacteria differentially induce degradation of Bcl-xL, a survival protein, by human platelets. Blood. 2012 Dec 13;120(25):5014-20.
- 201. Shcherbina A, Remold-O'Donnell E. Role of Caspase in a Subset of Human Platelet Activation Responses. Blood. 1999;93(12):4222-4231.
- 202. Kapur R, Heitink-Polle KM, Porcelijn L, Bentlage AE, Bruin MC, Visser R, Roos D, Schasfoort RB, de Haas M, van der Schoot CE, Vidarsson G. C-reactive protein enhances IgG-mediated phagocyte responses and thrombocytopenia. Blood. 2015 Mar 12;125(11):1793-802.
- 203. Lentz BR. Exposure of platelet membrane phosphatidylserine regulates blood coagulation. Progress in Lipid Research. 2003;42(5):423-438.
- 204. Semple JW, Aslam R, Kim M, Speck ER, Freedman J. Platelet-bound lipopolysaccharide enhances Fc receptor-mediated phagocytosis of IgG-opsonized platelets. Blood. 2007 Jun 1;109(11):4803-5.
- 205. Maharaj S, Chang S. Anti-PF4/heparin antibodies are increased in hospitalized patients with bacterial sepsis. Thromb Res. 2018 Nov;171:111-113.

- 206. Thorup CV, Christensen S, Hvas AM. Immature Platelets As a Predictor of Disease Severity and Mortality in Sepsis and Septic Shock: A Systematic Review. Semin Thromb Hemost. 2020 Apr;46(3):320-327.
- 207. Lupia E, Goffi A, Bosco O, Montrucchio G. Thrombopoietin as biomarker and mediator of cardiovascular damage in critical diseases. Mediators Inflamm. 2012;2012:390892.
- 208. Thiolliere F, Serre-Sapin AF, Reignier J, Benedit M, Constantin JM, Lebert C, Guelon D, Timsit JF, Souweine B. Epidemiology and outcome of thrombocytopenic patients in the intensive care unit: results of a prospective multicenter study. Intensive Care Med. 2013 Aug;39(8):1460-8.
- 209. de Stoppelaar SF, van 't Veer C, Claushuis TA, Albersen BJ, Roelofs JJ, van der Poll T. Thrombocytopenia impairs host defense in gram-negative pneumonia-derived sepsis in mice. Blood. 2014 Dec 11;124(25):3781-90.
- 210. Tunjungputri RN, van de Heijden W, Urbanus RT, de Groot PG, van der Ven A, de Mast Q. Higher platelet reactivity and platelet-monocyte complex formation in Gram-positive sepsis compared to Gram-negative sepsis. Platelets. 2017 Sep;28(6):595-601.
- 211. Forlow SB, McEver RP, Nollert MU. Leukocyte-leukocyte interactions mediated by platelet microparticles under flow. Blood. 2000 Feb 15;95(4):1317-23.
- Reid VL, Webster NR. Role of microparticles in sepsis. Br J Anaesth. 2012 Oct;109(4):503-13. Epub 2012/09/07. doi:10.1093/bja/aes321. Cited in: Pubmed; PMID 22952169.
- 213. Aatonen M, Grönholm M, Siljander PR. Platelet-derived microvesicles: multitalented participants in intercellular communication. Semin Thromb Hemost. 2012 Feb;38(1):102-13.
- 214. Marcoux G, Laroche A, Hasse S, Bellio M, Mbarik M, Tamagne M, Allaeys I, Zufferey A, Lévesque T, Rebetz J, Karakeussian-Rimbaud A, Turgeon J, Bourgoin SG, Hamzeh-Cognasse H, Cognasse F, Kapur R, Semple JW, Hébert MJ, Pirenne F, Overkleeft HS, Florea BI, Dieude M, Vingert B, Boilard E. Platelet EVs contain an active proteasome involved in protein processing for antigen presentation via MHC-I molecules. Blood. 2021 Dec 23;138(25):2607-2620.
- 215. Woth G, Tokes-Fuzesi M, Magyarlaki T, Kovacs GL, Vermes I, Muhl D. Activated platelet-derived microparticle numbers are elevated in patients with severe fungal (Candida albicans) sepsis. Ann Clin Biochem. 2012 Nov;49(Pt 6):554-60.
- 216. Soriano AO, Jy W, Chirinos JA, Valdivia MA, Velasquez HS, Jimenez JJ, Horstman LL, Kett DH, Schein RM, Ahn YS. Levels of endothelial and platelet microparticles and their interactions with leukocytes negatively correlate with organ dysfunction and predict mortality in severe sepsis. Crit Care Med. 2005;33(11):2540-6.
- 217. Puskarich MA, Cornelius DC, Bandyopadhyay S, McCalmon M, Tramel R, Dale WD, Jones AE. Phosphatidylserine expressing platelet microparticle levels at hospital presentation are decreased in sepsis non-survivors and correlate with thrombocytopenia. Thromb Res. 2018 Aug;168:138-144.

- 218. Yates JR, Ruse CI, Nakorchevsky A. Proteomics by mass spectrometry: approaches, advances, and applications. Annu Rev Biomed Eng. 2009;11:49-79.
- 219. Chait B. Chemistry. Mass spectrometry: bottom-up or top-down? Science. 2006 Oct 6;314(5796):65-6.
- 220. Vandermarliere E, Mueller M, Martens L. Getting intimate with trypsin, the leading protease in proteomics. Mass Spectrom Rev. 2013 Nov-Dec;32(6):453-65.
- 221. Aebersold R, Mann M. Mass spectrometry-based proteomics. Nature. 2003 Mar 13;422(6928):198-207.
- 222. Fenn JB, Mann M, Meng CK, Wong SF, Whitehouse CM. Electrospray ionization for mass spectrometry of large biomolecules. Science. 1989 Oct 6;246(4926):64-71.
- 223. Olsen JV, Macek B, Lange O, Makarov A, Horning S, Mann M. Higher-energy Ctrap dissociation for peptide modification analysis. Nat Methods. 2007 Sep;4(9):709-12.
- 224. Marcotte E. How do shotgun proteomics algorithms identify proteins? Nat Biotechnol. 2007 Jul;25(7):755-7.
- 225. Elias JE, Gygi SP. Target-decoy search strategy for increased confidence in largescale protein identifications by mass spectrometry. Nat Methods. 2007 Mar;4(3):207-14.
- 226. Rost HL, Rosenberger G, Navarro P, Gillet L, Miladinovic SM, Schubert OT, Wolski W, Collins BC, Malmstrom J, Malmstrom L, Aebersold R. OpenSWATH enables automated, targeted analysis of data-independent acquisition MS data. Nat Biotechnol. 2014 Mar;32(3):219-23.
- 227. Picotti P, Aebersold R. Selected reaction monitoring-based proteomics: workflows, potential, pitfalls and future directions. Nat Methods. 2012 May 30;9(6):555-66.
- 228. McKinnon KM. Flow Cytometry: An Overview. Curr Protoc Immunol. 2018 Feb 21;120:5.1.1-5.1.11.
- 229. Herzenberg LA, Tung J, Moore WA, Herzenberg LA, Parks DR. Interpreting flow cytometry data: a guide for the perplexed. Nat Immunol. 2006 Jul;7(7):681-5.
- 230. Sanderson MJ, Smith I, Parker I, Bootman MD. Fluorescence microscopy. Cold Spring Harb Protoc. 2014 Oct 1;2014(10):pdb top071795.
- 231. Wes Wallace, Lutz H. Schaefer, and, Swedlow JR. A Workingperson's Guide to Deconvolution in Light Microscopy. BioTechniques. 2001 Nov;31:1076-97.
- 232. Rand ML, Leung R, Packham MA. Platelet function assays. Transfus Apher Sci. 2003;28(3):307-17.
- 233. Aydin S. A short history, principles, and types of ELISA, and our laboratory experience with peptide/protein analyses using ELISA. Peptides. 2015 Oct;72:4-15.
- 234. Linares R, Tan S, Gounou C, Arraud N, Brisson AR. High-speed centrifugation induces aggregation of extracellular vesicles. J Extracell Vesicles. 2015;4:29509.
- Cvjetkovic A, Lotvall J, Lasser C. The influence of rotor type and centrifugation time on the yield and purity of extracellular vesicles. J Extracell Vesicles. 2014 Mar 25;3.

- 236. Campoy I, Lanau L, Altadill T, Sequeiros T, Cabrera S, Cubo-Abert M, Perez-Benavente A, Garcia A, Borros S, Santamaria A, Ponce J, Matias-Guiu X, Reventos J, Gil-Moreno A, Rigau M, Colas E. Exosome-like vesicles in uterine aspirates: a comparison of ultracentrifugation-based isolation protocols. J Transl Med. 2016 Jun 18;14(1):180.
- 237. Evander M, Johansson L, Lilliehorn T, Piskur J, Lindvall M, Johansson S, Almqvist M, Laurell T, Nilsson J. . Noninvasive acoustic cell trapping in a microfluidic perfusion system for online bioassays. Anal Chem. 2007 Apr 1;79(7):2984-91.
- 238. Lilliehorn T, Simu U, Nilsson M, Almqvist M, Stepinski T, Laurell T, Nilsson J, Johansson S. Trapping of microparticles in the near field of an ultrasonic transducer. Ultrasonics. 2005 Mar;43(5):293-303.
- Evander M, Gidlöf O, Olde B, Erlinge D, Laurell T. Non-contact acoustic capture of microparticles from small plasma volumes. Lab Chip. 2015 Jun 21;15(12):2588-96.
- 240. Hammarström B, Laurell T, Nilsson J. Seed particle-enabled acoustic trapping of bacteria and nanoparticles in continuous flow systems. Lab Chip. 2012 Nov 7;12(21):4296-304.
- 241. Broman A, Lenshof A, Evander M, Happonen L, Ku A, Malmstrom J, Laurell T. Multinodal Acoustic Trapping Enables High Capacity and High Throughput Enrichment of Extracellular Vesicles and Microparticles in miRNA and MS Proteomics Studies. Anal Chem. 2021 Mar 2;93(8):3929-3937.

Novel aspects of pathogen-mediated platelet activation and the role of platelets in inflammation



Invasive bacterial infections and sepsis remain one of the major causes of death worldwide. Some of the hallmarks of sepsis are disturbed hemostasis and a dysregulated inflammatory state. The main regulators of hemostasis are platelets, and they also respond rapidly to inflammation and infection. *Streptococcus pyogenes* is a human-specific pathogen that can cause invasive disease and sepsis. One classical streptococcal virulence factor is the cell wall anchored M protein, which contributes to various aspects of bacterial pathogenesis such as evasion of the immune system. The M protein exhibits pro-inflammatory properties, including activation

of platelets. The overall aim of this thesis was to investigate the interactions between the platelets and the streptococcal M protein further. Collectively, this thesis enlightens new aspects of the immunomodulatory roles of platelets during invasive infections and highlights novel mechanisms of streptococcal pathogenesis.



FACULTY OF MEDICINE

Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2022:76 ISBN 978-91-8021-237-3 ISSN 1652-8220

